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PRESIDENT’S FOREWORD

On behalf of the Australian Law Reform Commission (ALRC), | present the Annual Report for
2018-19.

The ALRC is an independent statutory agency for law reform, which is respected by Government
and the community as a centre of excellence. It sits within the Attorney-General’s portfolio and
supports the Attorney-General and the Australian Government by providing evidence-based
research to inform government decisions about the development, reform and harmonisation of
Australian laws and related processes.

This is my second annual report, marking the end of the first 18 months of my five year term as
President. It has been an eventful year and one in which significant change has been achieved.
In the past year, the ALRC has: completed two law reform inquiries; commenced two more;
launched a consultative project to identify future priorities for law reform; and relocated from
Sydney to Brisbane.

The ALRC delivered its final report on class actions and third-party litigation funders to the
Attorney-General in December 2018, and the final report for the review of the family law system
in March 2019.

| wish to thank Professor Helen Rhoades, full-time Commissioner for the family law review until
November 2018, as well as the part-time Commissioners for the review: the Hon John Faulks,
Mr Geoffrey Sinclair, Dr Andrew Bickerdike, the Hon Michelle May AM QC and the Hon Cheryl
Edwardes AM GAICD. Their knowledge and expertise was invaluable in completing this review.

| also acknowledge the important contribution of standing part-time Commissioner the Hon
Justice John Middleton to each of the ALRC’s inquiries in 2018-19 and thank him for his
ongoing assistance and wise counsel.

In the year ahead, the ALRC will complete its review of Australia’s corporate criminal
responsibility regime in Australia, as well as a review of the framework for religious exemptions
in anti-discrimination legislation.

| am pleased to welcome the Hon Justice Robert Bromwich to the ALRC as a part-time
Commissioner for the corporate criminal responsibility inquiry. Justice Bromwich brings a
wealth of understanding and experience to the Inquiry.

We said farewell to a number of staff members in 2018-19 as a result of our relocation and the
transition to a shared corporate services model. On behalf of the ALRC, | wish to acknowledge
and thank each of these staff members for their dedicated service to the ALRC.

The shared services model has enabled us to focus our efforts on our core work of law reform.
In 2018-19 we rebuilt our small team, all of whom are based at our new office in Brisbane,
which is located in the Harry Gibbs Commonwealth Law Courts Building. | wish to record my
thanks to our Executive Assistant, Claudine Kelly, and our excellent legal team, without whom
the work of the ALRC could not be accomplished.

This year the ALRC also commenced — for the first time in the Commission’s history — a
consultative project to develop a proposed three to five year programme of law reform projects.
Responsibility for determining which matters are referred to the ALRC for inquiry lies with the
Attorney-General. However, the ALRC may make suggestions. By conducting this consultative
project, the ALRC aims to make considered suggestions that are informed by public views
on the most pressing priorities for law reform. | look forward to presenting the results of this
project to the Attorney-General later this year.

= o =
C

—

The Hon Justice S C Derrington
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REVIEW




YEAR IN REVIEW

ROLE AND FUNCTIONS OF THE ALRC

The ALRC undertakes research and provides recommendations to reform the law on topics
selected by the Attorney-General of Australia.

The ALRC is an independent Australian Government agency that operates under the Australian
Law Reform Commission Act 1996 (Cth) (ALRC Act) as well as the Public Governance,
Performance and Accountability Act 2013 (Cth) (PGPA Act) and the Public Service Act 1999
(Cth).

The ALRC is responsible to Parliament through the Attorney-General, the Minister responsible
for the ALRC.

At the conclusion of each inquiry, the ALRC provides a report to the Attorney-General that
includes evidence-based recommendations for reform. The ALRC makes recommendations

that:

[ ] bring the law into line with current conditions and needs;

[ ] remove defects in the law;

[ ] simplify the law;

| adopt new or more effective methods for administering the law and dispensing justice;
u promote uniformity between states and territories; and

[ ] provide improved access to justice.

The ALRC is structured around inquiry teams which are led by the President or a Commissioner,
supported by legal officers of various seniority.
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LAW REFORM INQUIRIES IN 2018-19

In the 2018-19 financial year, the ALRC’s work spanned five law reform inquiries. Two of
these inquiries were completed in this period:

u Inquiry into class action proceedings and third-party litigation funders (December
2018); and
] Review of the family law system (March 2019).

In April 2019, the ALRC received Terms of Reference for two new inquiries into:

| Corporate criminal responsibility; and
| Religious exemptions from anti-discrimination legislation.

In addition to these ongoing inquiries, the ALRC commenced a consultative project to identify
priorities for law reform.

Summaries of each of these Inquiries are provided below.

INQUIRY PUBLICATIONS

Table 1: Inquiry publications completed 2018-19

Area Publication title Date of completion
Litigation Integrity, Fairness and Efficiency — An 21 December 2018
Funding Inquiry into Class Action Proceedings and

Third-Party Litigation Funders (Report 134)

Family Law Review of the Family Law System 2 October 2018
(Discussion Paper 86)

Family Law Family Law for the Future — An Inquiry into 31 March 2019
the Family Law System (Report 135)




INTEGRITY, FAIRNESS AND EFFICIENCY
— AN INQUIRY INTO CLASS ACTION
PROCEEDINGS AND THIRD-PARTY
LITIGATION FUNDERS

FIGURES
RECOMMENDATIONS MADE: 24
REFERRED: 11 December 2017
DATE DUE: 21 December 2018
DATE DELIVERED: 21 December 2018
TABLED IN PARLIAMENT: 24 January 2019
SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED: 100+
CONSULTATIONS HELD: 60+

The Final Report for the ALRC’s review of class actions
and third party litigation funders, Integrity, Fairness and
Efficiency—An Inquiry into Class Action Proceedings
and Third-Party Litigation Funders (Report No 134), was
delivered to the Attorney-General on 21 December 2018, and
tabled in Parliament in January 2019. The Report made 24
recommendations for reform.

BACKGROUND

In December 2017, the Attorney-General asked the ALRC to conduct an inquiry into class
actions and third party litigation funders. The Terms of Reference required the ALRC to
consider ‘whether and to what extent class action proceedings and third party litigation
funders should be subject to Commonwealth regulation’. In particular, the ALRC was directed
to consider whether there is adequate regulation of: conflicts of interest between third-party
funders, lawyers and class members; prudential requirements and character requirements of
funders; and the proportion of settlement available to be retained by lawyers and litigation
funders in class action proceedings.
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CONSULTATION

In the early part of the Inquiry, 40 consultations were held with key stakeholders in the
sector, including: a number of government agencies, academics, judges, members of the
legal profession, third-party litigation funders, insurers, company directors, and shareholder
representatives. Following the release of a Discussion Paper on 31 May 2018, the ALRC
received 107 submissions and conducted a second round of over 60 consultations. Of the
latter, 25 of the consultations and 103 of the submissions occurred in the 2018/19 reporting
period. Further consultations and workshops were held thereafter to ensure that interested
parties had the opportunity to expand on and clarify matters that had been raised in their
submission, and to comment on any new matters that had not been previously canvassed in
the Discussion Paper.

In August and September 2018, the ALRC held seminars in Brisbane, Melbourne and
Sydney, where the ALRC presented the various responses to the proposals of the Discussion
Paper on Class Action Proceedings and Third-party Litigation Funders.

FINDINGS

The ALRC report was guided by three overarching principles:

[ | Principle 1: It is essential to the rule of law that citizens should be able to vindicate
just claims through a process characterised by fairness and efficiency to all parties,
that gives primacy to the interests of the litigants, without undue expense or delay.

| Principle 2: There should be appropriate protections in place for litigants who wish
to avail themselves of the class action system and the variety of funding models that
facilitate the vindication of just claims.

| Principle 3: The integrity of the civil justice system is essential to the operation of the
rule of law.

The ALRC found that the federal class action regime has undoubtedly enabled more claims
to be brought, especially by people with small claims that collectively amount to a significant
total value. The costs of such actions, however, remain very high. The cost and delay of
proceedings are also necessarily increased where multiple class actions are commenced with
respect to the same or related matters. Litigation funding is therefore an important element in
facilitating access to the legal system, though data presented in the report showed that it has
predominantly facilitated access to the courts in a narrow range of claims, namely securities
and investor class actions.

In addition to recognising the critical role played by third-party litigation funders in
facilitating access to justice, the report identified certain risks associated with such funding
arrangements, particularly the conflicts that are inherent in any funding agreement. The ALRC
identified broad concerns about the depth of understanding within the legal profession as to
the complexity of the conflicts of interest that may arise in the context of third-party funded
class actions, and need for assurance of the integrity of the system through which class
claims are pursued.
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RECOMMENDATIONS

On 21 December 2018, the ALRC delivered the final report to the Attorney-General: Integrity,
Fairness and Efficiency—An Inquiry into Class Action Proceedings and Third-Party Litigation
Funders (Report No 134). The report contained 24 recommendations that aim to promote
fairness and efficiency in class action proceedings, protect litigants from disproportionate
costs, and ensure the integrity of the civil justice system. Recommendations include to:

u establish mechanisms in statute and legal frameworks for the Federal Court to deal
effectively with competing class actions;

| provide mechanisms by which the Federal Court can appoint an independent costs
referee to establish the reasonableness of legal costs in class action matters, and by
which the Court can tender for settlement administration services;

| increase transparency and open justice for class action settlements;

u decrease the risk of litigation funders failing to meet their obligations or exercising
improper influence through a statutory presumption in favour of securities for cost,
and greater Court oversight of funding agreements, which must indemnify the lead
plaintiff against an adverse costs order;

u enhance access to justice and decrease costs to litigants through the introduction of
a limited percentage-based fee model for solicitors; and
] introduce a voluntary accreditation scheme for solicitors acting in class action

proceedings.

The ALRC further recommended a Government review of statutory enforcement regimes for
regulators so as to facilitate effective and consistent statutory redress schemes in order to
fill gaps and create an alternative to some class action proceedings. Additionally, the ALRC
recommended a Government review of the legal and economic impact of the operation,
enforcement, and effect of federal statutory continuous disclosure obligations and those
relating to misleading and deceptive conduct. This recommendation recognises the need for
further investigation of the interaction between the substantive law that supports shareholder
class actions and the class action regime.




FAMILY LAW FOR THE FUTURE — AN
INQUIRY INTO THE FAMILY LAW SYSTEM

FIGURES
RECOMMENDATIONS MADE: 60
REFERRED: 27 September 2017
DATE DUE: 31 March 2019
DELIVERED: 31 March 2019
TABLED IN PARLIAMENT: 10 April 2019
PUBLIC SUBMISSIONS RECEIVED: 440+
CONFIDENTIAL CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED: 1060+
CONSULTATIONS HELD: 175+

The Final Report for the ALRC’s review of the family law
system, Family Law for the Future—An Inquiry into the Family
Law System (Report No 135), was delivered to the Attorney-
General in March 2019, and tabled in Parliament in April
2019. The Report made 60 recommendations for reform. Family Law

for the Future —
An Inquiry into the
Family Law System

|_FINAL REPORT )

ALRC Report 135 March 2019

BACKGROUND

In September 2017, the Attorney-General asked the ALRC to conduct a comprehensive
review of the modern family law system. This was the first review of Commonwealth family
law since it was enacted more than forty years ago. The Terms of Reference directed the
ALRC to consider the need and desirability of possible reforms to a broad range of issues
within the family law system, including the appropriate, early, and cost effective resolution of
all family law disputes, and the protection of the best interests of children and their safety.
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CONSULTATION

The ALRC conducted 179 consultations across Australia, including in each capital city and
across regional and rural locations, such as Albury/Wodonga, Alice Springs, Cairns, the Gold
Coast, Mt Gambier, Newcastle, Townsville, and Wollongong. In addition, with the assistance
of state Children’s Commissions and the Young People’s Family Law Advisory Group in
South Australia, the ALRC heard from several groups of children and young people about
their views on the issues in the Inquiry.

The ALRC published an Issues Paper (IP 48) in March 2018, followed by a Discussion
Paper (DP 86) in October 2018. Submissions were invited in response to the questions and
proposals put forward in each of these papers.

In addition to the request for submissions, the ALRC invited people with recent experience
of the family law system to confidentially tell the ALRC about their experience via a specially
created Tell Us Your Story portal on the Inquiry website.

The ALRC received over 1500 written contributions to the Inquiry, including over 440
public submissions in response to the Issues Paper and Discussion Paper, 331 confidential
submissions, and 732 substantive contributions to the Tell Us Your Story portal.

FINDINGS

The ALRC found that the family law system does not adequately assist Australian families
to resolve disputes following the breakdown of relationships. Children are not consistently
protected from harm; nor are people experiencing family violence. Disputes are protracted by
delays resulting from resources constraints in the courts, and also by the conduct of parties
who are unable or unwilling to resolve disputes quickly and amicably. The substantive family
law, which has been repeatedly amended, is no longer clear or comprehensible.

Critically, the ALRC found that, under the current system, children fall through the gaps
between the family law courts, child protection systems, and the state and territory
responses to family violence. In the federal family courts, family violence, child abuse or
other complex factors now make up the majority of cases. However, there is no federal body
with investigative powers akin to a child protection department and the family courts have
no capacity to compel a child protection department to intervene in a family law case or to
investigate the court’s concerns.
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RECOMMENDATIONS

The first recommendation made in the Final Report is that the resolution of family law disputes
be returned to the states and territories and that the federal family courts eventually be
abolished. The fundamental structural difficulties of the family law system can be remedied
only by enabling family law, family violence and child abuse matters to be dealt with in the
same place at the same time. One court considering the best interests of the child in totality.

More broadly, the recommendations in the Report aim to ensure that the law provides a
framework that assists families who are experiencing relationship breakdown to make
arrangements for their children, property, and financial affairs.

Key themes of the 60 recommendations include:

Closing the jurisdictional gap - Stop children falling through the gaps
between the federal family law courts, the state and territory child protection
systems and the state and territory responses to family violence. Family
law disputes returned to the states and territories and the federal family
courts eventually abolished.

Children’s orders - Simplify the factors to be considered when determining
living arrangements that promote a child’s best interests. Remove
mandatory consideration of particular living arrangements.

Stricter case management - Clearer consequences for couples and their
advisors if they don’t seek to resolve disputes as quickly, inexpensively,
and efficiently as possible, and with the least acrimony.

Compliance with children’s orders - Improve understanding of orders
through greater engagement with family consultants and place limits on
interim appeals.

Simpler property division - Include a starting position that separated
couples made equal contributions during the relationship.

Encourage amicable dispute resolution - Increase the proportion of family
law matters that are dealt with through alternatives such as FDR (Family
Dispute Resolution) and LADR (Legally Assisted Dispute Resolution).

Legislative simplification - Redraft the Family Law Act to make it easier
to understand the law.
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SUPPLEMENTARY PUBLICATIONS:

Following the release of the Final Report in April 2019 the ALRC published three supplementary
notes online:

Recommendations in Relation to Shared Parental Responsibility (April 2019): an
explanatory note that addresses some common public misconceptions surrounding
the ALRC’s recommendations on shared parental responsibility.

Closing the Jurisdictional Gap: A ‘Radical’ Recommendation (April 2019): an
explanatory note that contextualises the first recommendation in the Final Report —
that family law disputes be returned to the states and territories and the federal family
courts eventually abolished.

Summary of Tell Us Your Story Responses (June 2019): a note that provides
aggregated data regarding the number and nature of individual stories
submitted via the Tell Us Your Story portal that included complaints against
actors in the family law system and about the system in general. This note
is intended to supplement Chapter 3 of the Final Report, which provides a
high level summary of the data collected from the Tell Us Your Story project.
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REVIEW OF AUSTRALIA’'S CORPORATE
CRIMINAL RESPONSIBILITY REGIME

FIGURES
REFERRED: 10 April 2019
DATE DUE: 30 April 2020
CONSULTATIONS HELD: 23
COMMENTS ON TERMS OF REFERENCE RECEIVED: 14
BACKGROUND

On 10 April 2019, the Attorney-General asked the ALRC
to inquire into Australia’s corporate criminal responsibility
regime and, specifically, the corporate criminal responsibility
provisions contained in Part 2.5 of the Commonwealth
Criminal Code. The Terms of Reference ask the ALRC to
consider ‘whether, and if so what, reforms are necessary or
desirable to improve Australia’s corporate criminal liability
regime’. In particular, the ALRC has been asked to review:

the policy rationale for Part 2.5 of the Code;

the efficacy of Part 2.5 of the Code as a mechanism
for attributing corporate criminal liability;

the availability of other mechanisms for attributing
corporate criminal responsibility and their relative
effectiveness, including mechanisms which could be
used to hold individuals (eg senior corporate office
holders) liable for corporate misconduct;

the appropriateness and effectiveness of criminal procedure laws and rules as they
apply to corporations; and

options for reforming Part 2.5 of the Code or other relevant legislation to strengthen
and simplify the Commonwealth corporate criminal responsibility regime.

The review will provide the first comprehensive review of Australia’s corporate criminal
responsibility regime following the enactment of the Commonwealth Criminal Code. It comes
at a time of renewed focus on protecting Australian consumers from egregious conduct by
corporations and increasing regulation in the area of corporate wrongdoing. It also follows
the release of the Final Report of the ASIC Enforcement Taskforce in December 2017, and the
Royal Commission into Misconduct in the Banking, Superannuation and Financial Services
Industry in February 2019.
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CONSULTATION

Following the release of the Terms of Reference the ALRC invited interested stakeholders
to provide comments on the scope of the Inquiry and any issues relevant to the Terms of
Reference. The ALRC received 14 responses to its invitation for comments. The ALRC will
use these comments to inform the scope of its review.

From May to June 2019, the ALRC held 23 initial consultations with academics, government
agencies, law firms, and industry bodies across Australia.

DISCUSSION PAPER AND FINAL REPORT

Proposals for reform will be outlined in a Discussion Paper that the ALRC plans to release on
15 November 2019. Following the release of the Discussion Paper, the ALRC will invite public
submissions until 31 January 2020 and hold further consultations. The Final Report is due to
the Attorney-General by 30 April 2020.
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REVIEW OF THE FRAMEWORK OF
RELIGIOUS EXEMPTIONS IN ANTI-
DISCRIMINATION LEGISLATION

FIGURES

REFERRED: 10 April 2019
DATE DUE: 12 December 2020
CONSULTATIONS HELD: 17

COMMENTS ON TERMS OF REFERENCE RECEIVED: 13
BACKGROUND

On 10 April 2019, the Attorney-General asked the ALRC
to inquire into the framework of religious exemptions in
Commonwealth, State and Territory anti-discrimination
legislation. This Inquiry has been referred to the ALRC as part
of the Government’s response to the Review of Religious
Freedom conducted by the Expert Panel led by the Hon
Phillip Ruddock (the ‘Ruddock Review’).

The Terms of Reference ask the ALRC to consider what
reforms to Commonwealth, state and territory law, the Fair
Work Act 2009 (Cth) and any other Australian laws should be
made in order to:

[ | limit or remove altogether (if practicable) religious
exemptions to prohibitions on discrimination, while
also guaranteeing the right of religious institutions
to conduct their affairs in a way consistent with their
religious ethos, and

| remove any legal impediments to the expression of a view of marriage as it was defined
in the Marriage Act 1961 (Cth) before it was amended by the Marriage Amendment
(Definition and Religious Freedoms) Act 2017 (Cth), whether such impediments are
imposed by a provision analogous to section 18C of the Racial Discrimination Act
1975 (Cth) or otherwise.
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CONSULTATION

Following the release of the Terms of Reference the ALRC invited interested stakeholders
to provide comments on the scope of the Inquiry and any issues relevant to the Terms of
Reference. The ALRC received 13 responses to its invitation for comments. The ALRC will
use these comments to inform the scope of its review.

To help inform individuals and organisations interested in providing comments on the Terms
of Reference the ALRC published a brief background paper on the Inquiry webpage on 1
May 2019. The background paper contextualises the ALRC’s Inquiry by summarising the
Ruddock Review and the Government’s Response to that review. The ALRC Inquiry will not
re-agitate issues already considered in the Ruddock Review, but rather will assess legislative
options that align with the specific recommendations that have been referred to the ALRC.

From May to June 2019 the ALRC conducted a preliminary round of consultations with a
range of stakeholders, including representatives from academia, religious institutions,
schools and human rights organisations. The ALRC will consult more widely following the
release of the Discussion Paper for this Inquiry.

DISCUSSION PAPER AND FINAL REPORT

The ALRC is planning to release a Discussion Paper in early 2020. The Discussion Paper
will set out proposed reforms and ask questions to assist the ALRC to prepare formal
recommendations.

The Final Report, including recommendations for law reform, is due to the Attorney-General
by 12 December 2020.
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WHERE NEXT FOR LAW REFORM? —
PRIORITIES FOR LAW REFORM PROJECT

FIGURES

SURVEY RESPONSES: 395
CONSULTATIONS: 7
SEMINARS HELD: 4
BACKGROUND

In 2019 the ALRC initiated a national conversation about
the national priorities for law reform over the next three to
five years (Priorities for Law Reform). The conversation gives
Australians a say in what areas of law should be the focus of a
law reform inquiry by the ALRC and forms part of the ALRC’s
longstanding commitment to broad public participation in law
reform.

Priorities for Law Reform will culminate in a proposed three
to five year programme of law reform projects that the
ALRC will submit to the Commonwealth Attorney-General
for consideration in 2019. While it is the responsibility of
the Attorney-General to determine which matters are to be
examined by the ALRC, the ALRC may make suggestions.
By hosting this national conversation the ALRC is asking
the public what suggestions it should make to the Attorney-
General.

The ALRC prepared brief background papers on potential areas for reform to ‘kick start’ the
conversation. One of these papers introduced the Constitution as a potential reform priority.
The Australian Constitution has consistently been the subject of prolific public debate.
Constitutional issues underpin a broad range of public concerns, from the opaque process
of judicial appointments, to the complicated dual citizenship prohibition under s 44 that
has plagued federal parliament in recent years. Since its establishment in 1975, the ALRC
has produced 91 reports on various areas of Australian Commonwealth law. Of these, we
identified 56 reports (61%) in which the Constitution presented one or more obstacles to the
effective operation of the law in Australia. Broadly, these obstacles fall into two categories:
those where the legal arrangements in need of reform were dictated or underpinned by
constitutional requirements; and those where the Constitution itself limited the availability
or scope of possible reforms. Despite the prevalence of constitutional issues in previous
ALRC inquiries, constitutional reform has only once been recommended by the ALRC. When
constitutional issues have arisen, they have typically been beyond the scope of the inquiry.
Even when the ALRC has attempted to grapple with the constitutional issues that arise, it is
often impeded by uncertainty as to the scope of constitutional provisions, which undermines

efforts to recommend appropriate and effective reforms.
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CONSULTATION

Public participation in the project has been facilitated by an online survey and a series of
public seminars on the future of law reform.

Online Survey

Through an online survey, which closed on 30 June 2019, individuals and organisations were
invited to provide comments on seven suggested topics for reform and make their own
suggestions about areas of law they believe are in need of reform.

The seven suggested topics for reform in the survey were:

The Australian Constitution;

Banking, superannuation and financial services;
Environmental law;

Commonwealth anti-corruption measures
Immigration law;

Taxation; and

Defamation

There were 395 responses to the survey.

Seminars

In May and June 2019, the ALRC held four seminars on the future of law reform in conjunction
with the Law Schools at University of New South Wales (UNSW), Australian National University
(ANU) and the University of Melbourne:

[ ] The Constitution and Public Law (UNSW, 29 May 2019)

u Technology and the Law (ANU, 12 June 2019)

u The Constitution and Immigration Law (University of Melbourne, 18 June 2019)

| | Environment, Energy and Resources Law (Brisbane Federal Court, 20 June 2019)

Each seminar had a broad focus on a different area of law, with discussion led by a panel with
expertise in the relevant area.

At the conclusion of each seminar, participants were invited to vote for their top three priority
topics for a law reform inquiry via an online platform. The ALRC has published summaries of
each seminar online, including results from the online voting platform and key themes from
the panel discussions.

Development of Programme of Law Reform Projects

The public contributions via the online survey and public seminars will assist the ALRC in
developing preliminary law reform project proposals.

The ALRC will seek feedback on its project proposals through further public seminars and
consultations before presenting a final programme of law reform projects to the Attorney-
General later in 2019.
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REPORT ON PERFORMANCE

ANNUAL PERFORMANCE STATEMENT

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

As the accountable authority of the Australian Law Reform Commission (ALRC), | present the
annual performance statement, which has been prepared for paragraph 39(1)(a) of the Public
Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013 (PGPA Act) for the 2018-19 financial
year and accurately presents ALRC performance and complies with subsection 39(2) of the
PGPA Act.

OUR OUTCOME

The intended outcome of the ALRC’s activities is:

Informed government decisions about the development, reform and harmonisation
of Australian laws and related processes through research, analysis, reports and
community consultation and education (Outcome 1).

The ALRC has one program to achieve its outcome—conducting inquiries into aspects of
Australian law and related processes for the purpose of law reform (Program 1). It is through
the inquiry process that the ALRC undertakes rigorous research and analysis that underpin
recommendations for law reform.
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ENVIRONMENT

The ALRC strives to be a law reform agency at the leading edge of internationally recognised
best practice.

Ideally, the ALRC would have at least 25 staff comprising lawyers, researchers, an economist
and a socio-legal expert. Within the current budget, the ALRC seeks to maintains an average
staffing level of 11 and has the capacity to work on two inquiries at any one time. The ALRC is
reliant on Government for referrals and, accordingly, the extent to which the ALRC can meet
its performance targets is influenced from year to year by the number of inquiries referred to
the ALRC, the prescribed timeframes for these inquiries and the resources made available
to conduct them.

In light of this, the ALRC will continue to work closely with the Attorney-General’s Department
to ensure appropriate lead time for planning and managing resources when new inquiries are
referred to the ALRC.

PERFORMANCE CRITERIA FOR 2018-19

The ALRC measures its success through the following key performance indicators:

| the number of consultation papers and the number of reports to government;

| the percentage of inquiries completed on time in accordance with the terms of
reference set by the Attorney-General;

] the number of citations or references to ALRC consultation documents, reports and

recommendations in Parliamentary debates and committee reports, in court citations
and decisions, and in academic publications and other publications;

u the number of submissions received for each inquiry;

n the number of consultations held for each inquiry;

| the breadth of community engagement in the work of the ALRC through the number
of subscribers to the ALRC’s E-news, visitors to the website and followers on Twitter;
and

[ ] the number of publications, presentations, and speaking engagements of ALRC staff.

The ALRC Performance Criteria are sourced from the ALRC Corporate Plan 2018-22.
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RESULT AGAINST PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

Table 2: KPI performance 2018-19

|:| Target reached . Target exceeded Target exceeded Target exceeded
100% 100-200% 200-300% >300%
KPI measure 2018-19 2018-19 actual
target

= Annual Report 2017/2018 (September 2018)

= Review of the Family Law System (Discussion
Paper No 86, October 2018)

= Integrity, Fairness and Efficiency—An Inquiry

Number of reports 4 4 Ligation Funders (AL Report 134, December
2018)

= Family Law for the Future—An Inquiry into the
Family Law System (ALRC Report 135, March
2019)

Timeliness of reports 100% 100%

Broader Community Engagement

The breadth of community engagement in the work of the ALRC through the number of subscribers to the
ALRC'’s E-news, visitors to the website and followers on Twitter
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The performance criteria were changed in the ALRC’s 2018-22 Corporate Plan (June 2018) to
better reflect the ALRC’s contribution to government and the broader Australian community.

For full transparency the following are the ALRC’s performance criteria and targets for
2018-19 in the Attorney-General’s 2018-19 Portfolio Budget Statements page 111.

KPI measure 2018-19 target 2018-19 actual
Implementation of reports 85% No longer measured
Citations or references 50 327

Submissions received 150 393

+ Visits: 1,644,501
Visitors to website >250,000 » Page views: 2,676,032
Unique visitors: 1,134,147

Presentations and speaking

25 44
engagements

Media mentions 250 No longer measured

ANALYSIS OF PERFORMANCE

Number of reports

The core output of the ALRC comprises consultation papers and reports to government with
recommendations for law reform.

The ALRC produced four reports in 2018-19:

[ ] Annual Report 2017/2018 (September 2018)
u Review of the Family Law System (Discussion Paper No 86, October 2018)

] Integrity, Fairness and Efficiency—An Inquiry into Class Action Proceedings and Third-
Party Litigation Funders (ALRC Report 134, December 2018)

] Family Law for the Future—An Inquiry into the Family Law System (ALRC Report 135,
March 2019)

Timeliness of reports

The timeliness of reports is an indicator of the effectiveness of the ALRC in meeting the terms
of reference for inquiries established by the Attorney-General, which include a reporting date.

During 2018-19 the ALRC delivered the final reports for the Review of the Family Law
System and the Inquiry into Class Action Proceedings and Third-Party Litigation Funders in
accordance with the reporting date.
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Court citations

Past ALRC reports are frequently a source of accurate and informative material on the law
that is the subject of each inquiry.

The ALRC has identified 53 mentions of ALRC reports in the judgments of Australian courts
and tribunals during 2018-19. This included 4 citations in the High Court of Australia and 17
citations by the Federal Court of Australia. Frequently cited reports include:

u Evidence (Interim) (ALRC Report 26, 1985), Evidence (ALRC Report 38, 1987) and
Uniform Evidence Law (ALRC Report 102, 2006);

| Grouped Proceedings in the Federal Court (ALRC Report 46, 1988); and

[ ] General Insolvency Inquiry (ALRC Report 45, 1988).

Encouragingly, both older and newer reports by the ALRC have been considered substantive
evidence based reports worthy of citation in the superior courts of Australia.

Mentions in Parliament

The number of mentions of ALRC reports in Parliament provides an indication of Parliament’s
engagement with the ALRC’s work and the esteem in which it is held.

The ALRC has identified 21 references to ALRC reports and recommendations in second
reading speeches and other Parliamentary proceedings during 2018-19. Examples include
references to:

| Family Violence and Commonwealth Laws—Improving Legal Frameworks (ALRC
Report 117, 2012) in the Fair Work Amendment (Family and Domestic Violence Leave)
Bill 2018 and the Family Law Amendment (Family Violence and Cross-examination of
Parties) Bill 2018; and

| Copyright and the Digital Economy (ALRC Report 122, 2013) in the Copyright
Amendment (Online Infringement) Bill 2018.

References in academic publications

The work of the ALRC has long been a resource for academics studying law as well as social
policy. The ALRC strives for its published reports to be authoritative and accurate. In 2018
19, the ALRC was cited in at least 253 academic publications, including journal articles,
research papers and textbooks.

Frequently cited reports include:

u Elder Abuse — A National Legal Response (ALRC Report 131, 2017);
u Family Violence: A National Legal Response (ALRC Report, 2010); and
] Equality, Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws (ALRC Report, 2014).

Submissions

The number of submissions received by the ALRC is a measure of public engagement with its
work and the extent to which the consultation papers have stimulated debate and discussion.
However, the number of submissions received for any inquiry is also influenced by its subject
matter—particular inquiries are likely to generate a greater, broader degree of public interest
and participation than others. The public interest in the Review of the Family Law System is
reflected in the receipt of 263 submissions in response to the Discussion Paper published in
October 2018.
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In 2018-19, the ALRC for the first time invited interested persons to comment on the Terms
of Reference for inquiries prior to the release of consultation papers. This allowed interested
parties to provide early feedback on issues that the ALRC should consider in the course of
its inquiry. As this is a new consultative step, it was anticipated that the response rate would
be low compared to submissions received in response to consultation papers.

Table 3: Submissions received 2018-19

Consultation paper Submission closing | Submissions received
date during reporting period

Inquiry into Class Action Proceedings
and Third-party Litigation Funders 31 July 2018 103
(DP 85)

Review of the Family Law System
(DP 48) 13 November 2018 263

Invitation to comment on Terms
of Reference for Review of the

Framework of Religious Exemptions in 10 May 2019 13
Anti-Discrimination Legislation

Invitation to comment on Terms of
Reference for Review of the Corporate

Criminal Responsibility Regime in 10 May 2019 14
Australia
Total submissions received 393
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Consultations

For each Inquiry the ALRC seeks to consult with people who have expertise and experience
in the laws under review, as well as people likely to be affected by the laws in question.
The number of consultations held is one indicator of the breadth of the evidence base that
underpins the ALRC’s recommendations and of community engagement with the law reform
process implemented by the ALRC. In 2018-19, the ALRC conducted 108 consultations with

stakeholders and experts across Australia and overseas.

Table 4: Consultations held 2018-19

Inquiry

Number of consultations held during
reporting period

Class Action Proceedings and Third-Party

Litigation Funders 25
Family Law 43
Corporate Criminal Responsibility Regime 23
Frarneyvor.k qf R.eligious. Exgmptions in 17
Anti-Discrimination Legislation

Total consultations 108

Presentations, articles and speaking engagements

Presenting at public conferences, seminars, and Parliamentary inquiries, and contributing
articles to journals and publications ensures that the work of the ALRC is publicly debated
and discussed. In total there were 45 presentations, articles, and speaking engagements by
ALRC Commissioners and staff in 2018-19.

Highlights of ALRC presentations and speaking engagements in 2018-19 included:

| Keynote address by ALRC President, Justice Derrington, at the inaugural Association
of Litigation Funders of Australia (ALFA) Class Action and Litigation Funding

Conferences in Melbourne and Sydney on 22 and 26 August 2018 respectively.

| Keynote address by Justice Derrington at the Herbert Smith Freehills’ Annual

Corporate Governance Symposium on 16 November 2018.

u Presentation by Matt Corrigan, General Counsel, at the Commercial Law Association

Conference on 8 March 2019.

] Appearance by Justice Derrington as a panelist on Hugh Riminton’s Sunday Extra, ABC
Radio National on 2 June 2019 to outline the ALRC’s Family Law recommendations.
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E-news subscribers

The ALRC maintains a general mailing list — the ALRC Brief — to provide regular updates on
the ALRC’s work, as well as Inquiry-specific mailing lists. Subscriptions to the E-news reflect
sustained engagement with a specific inquiry or the ALRC’s work generally.

Audience Number of subscribers at 30 June 2019
ALRC Brief 1527

Family Law E-News 1512

Rgligi.ou.s E?<emptio.ns ip Anti- 45

Discrimination Legislation E-News

Corporate Crime E-News 43

Total subscribers 3127

ALRC website

The ALRC website is a pivotal communication tool for the ALRC and a law reform resource
for the wider public. The ALRC strives to continually build value into the website, both in
terms of providing useful and accessible content relevant to stakeholders and researchers,
and utilising its functionality as an online consultation tool. The ALRC website has been
under redevelopment in 2018-19. The new website is due to go live in September 2019.

Key website metrics from Google Analytics for 2018-19:

[ | visits = 1,644,501
| | page views = 2,676,032
| | unique visitors = 1,134,147

These metrics represent, compared to the 2017-18 reporting period:

] 3% decrease in visits;
| 4% decrease in page views; and
u 4% decrease in unique visitors.
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Comparison of website traffic: July-June in 2017-18 and 2018-19

3,000,000

2,500,000 -

2,000,000 -

1,500,000 - m2017-18
2018-19

1,000,000 -

500,000 -

Page views Visits Unique visitors

The slight drop in web traffic reflects an outdated website that has been replaced. ALRC
website statistics indicate that it is not just in implementation that the ALRC makes a
significant contribution to the discussion of laws and legal frameworks in Australia.

In 2018-19, the top three reports accessed by PDF downloads were:

1. Recognition of Aboriginal Customary Laws (ALRC Report 31, 1986)
2. Essentially Yours: The Protection of Human Genetic Information in Australia (ALRC
Report 96, 2003)

3. Family Law for the Future—An Inquiry into the Family Law System (ALRC Report 135,
2019)

The inclusion in this list of the Recognition of Aboriginal Customary Laws Report from 1986
illustrates the enduring value of the ideas, discussion and research contained in this landmark
report.

Twitter followers

The ALRC uses Twitter to provide updates on its Inquiries and publicise opportunities to
engage with its work. The number of people following the ALRC’s Twitter account tracks
broader engagement with law reform and the subject-matter of ALRC inquiries. On 30 June
2019 the ALRC’s Twitter account had 13,492 followers.
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IMPLEMENTATION OF REPORTS AND
IMPACT OF WORK

The ALRC has no direct role in implementing its recommendations. There is no statutory
requirement for the Australian Government to respond formally to ALRC reports. However,
the ALRC monitors major developments in relation to issues covered in its past reports. It
is not uncommon for implementation to occur some years after the completion of a report.

During 2018-19 the Australian Government took steps to further implement Elder Abuse—A
National Legal Response (ALRC Report 131, 2017). On 2 April 2019 the Minister for Senior
Australians and Aged Care, Ken Wyatt AM made the Quality of Care Amendment (Minimising
the Use of Restraints) Principles 2019, which will amend the Quality of Care Principles 2014
from 1 July 2019 to include specific requirements relating to the use of physical and chemical
restraint in the aged care sector. The amended principles will partially implement the ALRC’s
recommendations in respect of restrictive practices (Recs 4-10 to 4-11) by providing, for
example, that physical restraint be treated as a last resort.

The Australian Government has also passed legislation in the last year (Family Law
Amendment (Family Violence and Other Measures) Act 2018 (Cth)) that substantially
implements recommendation 16-5 (amendments to section 68T of the Family Law Act) from
Family Violence—A National Legal Response (ALRC Report 114, 2010).
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SUMMARY AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE

Financial outcomes

Operating outcome

The 2018-19 financial statements show an operating surplus of $0.165m.

Operating revenue

The ALRC’s operating revenue of $2.933m comprised of revenue from government of
$2.595m, revenue for the review of the family law system of $0.299m, revenue from sale of
goods (publications) of $0.003m, and other revenue of $0.036m.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses of $2.768m were $0.869m less than in 2017-18.

The ALRC’s depreciation and amortisation expense decreased by $0.003m.
Equity

The ALRC'’s total equity is $0.172m. This includes contributed equity of $0.303m.

Total assets
The ALRC’s total assets decreased by $0.521m.

Total liabilities
The ALRC’s total liabilities decreased by $0.702m.

Entity resource statement

The ALRC’s Entity Resource Statement and Expenses for Outcomes 2018-19, which
summarises the total resources available to the ALRC and the total payments made by the
ALRC during 2018-19, can be found in the Financial Statements.

Compliance

The ALRC has not had any significant non-compliance with Finance Law and has therefore
not made any report to its Minister, the Attorney-General.
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MANAGEMENT AND ACCOUNTABILITY

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

ALRC accountability and governance requirements are met through its Accountable Authority
Instructions. These provide the framework to ensure that the ALRC meets its obligations and
responsibilities with regard to governance, reporting and accountability of Commonwealth
entities and for their use and management of public resources, in line with the requirements
of the PGPA Act.

Ministerial powers

The Minister responsible for the ALRC is the Attorney-General for Australia.

The ALRC is a statutory agency under the PGPA Act and an employer subject to the Public
Service Act 1999.

The ALRC is constituted under the ALRC Act. Section 20 of the ALRC Act states that the
Attorney-General may refer matters to the ALRC for review.
Accountable authority

The Hon Justice Sarah Derrington, President of the ALRC, was the Accountable Authority of
the ALRC during 2018-19.
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Members of the Commission

Table 4 lists members of the ALRC during 2018-19 and their terms of appointment. On 30
June 2019, there were three members of the ALRC —one full-time member and two part-time
members.

Table 4: Members 2018-19

Commissioner Term of appointment

Full-time Commissioner

The Hon Justice S C Derrington Appointed as President 10 January
2018-9 January 2023.

Full-time Commissioner for Family Law Inquiry

Professor Helen Rhoades 10 October 2017 - 31 March 2019;
resigned 5 November 2018

Part-time Commissioners

Standing Part-time Commissioner(s)

The Hon Justice John Middleton Reappointed 28 November 2016—
27 November 2019.

Part-time Commissioner for Corporate Criminal Responsibility Inquiry

The Hon Justice Robert Bromwich 10 April 2019-30 April 2020.
Part-time Commissioners for Family Law Inquiry

The Hon John Faulks 21 November 2017-31 March 2019.
Geoffrey Sinclair 21 November 2017-31 March 2019.
Dr Andrew Bickerdike 27 June 2018-31 March 2019.

The Hon Michelle May AM QC 12 December 2018-31 March 2019.
The Hon Cheryl Edwardes AM GAICD 12 December 2018-31 March 2019.

Remuneration

The Commonwealth Remuneration Tribunal determines the remuneration for all ALRC
Commissioners.
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Key management personnel

Key Management Personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Commission. The Commission has
determined the Key Management Personnel to be the President and Commissioner. Key
Management Personnel remuneration is reported in the table below.

Key Management Personnel Remuneration

Name Justice S C Derrington Prof H Rhoades

Position title President Member

Short-term benefits
Base salary 448,402 89,010
Bonuses

Other benefits and allowances

Post-employment benefits

Superannuation contributions 8,418

Other long-term benefits

Long service leave

Other long-term benefits 34,650 6,817
Termination benefits

Total remuneration 483,052 104,245
Policies

The Accountable Authority Instructions and the ALRC Policy Manual contain current ALRC
policies, guidelines and procedures on a range of administrative matters. ALRC policies are
reviewed and revised as required. All new and revised policies are approved by the President.

New policies implemented or updated during 2018-19 include:

[ | Fraud Control Statement and Policy

[ | Operational Risk Management Policy

[ ] Enterprise Risk Management Policy; and
[ ] Business Continuity Plan and Policy.

Policies that concern interaction with members of the public are published on the ALRC
website. New staff members are advised of ALRC policies as part of the induction process
and all staff have access to ALRC policies via the intranet.

Corporate planning
The ALRC Corporate Plan 2019-23 is available on the ALRC website.
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Financial management and audit

The audit of the 2018-19 financial statements was performed by the ANAO. The Auditor’s
opinion was that the financial statements of the ALRC were prepared in accordance with
all relevant legislation and Finance Minister’s Orders, and give a true and fair view of the
ALRC'’s financial position and performance. The ANAO conducted an interim audit of the
ALRC 2018-19 financial accounts and provided an interim report to the Audit Committee in
July 2019.

The ALRC Audit Committee is established in compliance with section 45 of the PGPA Act and
section 17 of the PGPA Rule. The objective of the Audit Committee is to provide independent
assurance and assistance to the President on the ALRC risk, control and compliance
framework, and its financial and performance reporting responsibilities.

The ALRC President authorises the Audit Committee, within its responsibilities, to:

u obtain any information it requires from any employee or external party (subject to any
legal obligation to protect information);

| discuss any matters with the external auditor, or other external parties (subject to
confidentiality considerations);

| request the attendance of any employee, including the President, at Audit Committee
meetings; and

u obtain legal or other professional advice, as considered necessary to meet its

responsibilities, with the prior approval of the President.

During 2018-19 the ALRC Audit Committee was comprised of 3 members, appointed by the
President, as follows:

u Chair and External Member: Darrell Yesberg, Chief Financial Officer, Australian Human
Rights Commission;

| | External Member: Kathryn Hunter, Chief Financial Officer, Federal Court; and

u External Member: Helen O’Loughlin, Senior Executive Leader, People and

Development, Australian Securities and Investment Commission.

A representative of the ANAO is also invited to attend meetings of the Audit Committee.

The ALRC Audit Forward Plan sets a meeting schedule and outlines the activities of the Audit
Committee over the next financial year. The Audit Committee met in September 2018 and
March 2019.

The Department of Finance encourages Commonwealth entities to source at least some
external members of their audit committee from outside the public sector, in order to
strengthen the committee’s independence and broaden its members’ skills (A Guide for
Non-Corporate Commonwealth Entities on the Role of Audit Committees, December 2018).
In accordance with this advice, in June 2019 the ALRC President appointed Jennifer Clark as
Chair and External Member of the Audit Committee from September 2019. The appointment
of Darrell Yesberg as Chair and External Member will end following the July 2019 meeting.
Ms O’Loughlin was also replaced by Ms Cherie Enders, the Chief Operating Officer at the
Australian Maritime Safety Authority. Ms Enders’ first meeting will be in September 2019.

37




38

Fraud control and risk management

The ALRC has a commitment to fraud control and for promoting efficient, effective and ethical
use of Commonwealth resources. No fraudulent activity was detected in 2018-19.

The ALRC’s Accountable Authority certifies that the ALRC has prepared Fraud Risk
Assessments and a Fraud Control Plan (FCP) and Statement for 2018-21. These were
approved by the Audit Committee in June 2018. The FCP is a strategic document drawing
together all fraud prevention, detection, minimisation and reporting initiatives adopted by
the ALRC to control fraud. The FCP provides the ALRC with appropriate mechanisms for
preventing, detecting, investigating or otherwise dealing with, and recording or reporting
fraud that meet the specific requirements of the ALRC. The FCP was developed from a risk
assessment and is an integral part of the ALRC Assurance and Governance Framework. The
ALRC Fraud Control Plan and Statement will be reviewed in March 2021.

The ALRC Audit Committee is responsible for the ongoing monitoring and review of the fraud
control framework, including the actions agreed to in the FCP. The President is the Fraud
Control Officer and is responsible for ensuring that the appropriate processes are in place to
manage the risk of fraud.

During 2018-19, the ALRC has taken all reasonable measures to minimise the incidence of
fraud and has raised awareness of fraud control among employees to foster an environment
that encourages employee involvement in the strategies to prevent fraud.

The ALRC has assessed that it has alow to negligible residual fraud risk profile, with an effective
control environment. In accordance with paragraph 5.2 of the Fraud Control Statement and
Plan, the ALRC collects any information relating to fraudulent matters and reports it to the
Australian Institute of Criminology annually. No fraudulent activity was detected in 2018-19.

Enterprise risk management

The ALRC’s Enterprise Risk Management Plan (ERMP) was updated in March 2019.

The objective of the ERMP is to identify and articulate any organisational risks and to develop
a mechanism to track and report on controls in place, and treatments required, to mitigate
these risks.

The ALRC has continued to assess and manage its risks through:

| appropriate levels of insurance, including cover for public liability, directors’ liability,
and property loss or damage, with nature and levels of cover reviewed annually;

u a positive approach to work health and safety, based on preventative strategies,
flexible return to work arrangements and early response to injury;

u provision of training to staff to ensure that they understand their responsibilities and
have the skills necessary to fulfil their responsibilities;

] transparent reporting of financial management and operational matters, both internally

and externally; and

| updated administrative policies aimed at preventing fraud and managing risk, through
a Fraud Control Statement and Plan and Business Continuity Plan.
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Ethics

The ALRC fosters a culture of integrity, honesty and fairness in the workplace and actively
seeks to comply with all relevant laws, regulations, codes and government standards.

Employees of the ALRC are Australian public servants and must follow the APS Values and
APS Code of Conduct, which articulate the culture and operating ethos of the ALRC and
provide the framework within which employment powers will be exercised by the President.
ALRC employees are expected to comply with ALRC policies, and with any lawful direction
given by the President and/or their supervisor.

Any suspected or actual breaches of the APS Code of Conduct will be dealt with in accordance
with the ALRC’s Procedures for Determining Breaches of the Code of Conduct, established
in accordance with s 15(3) of the Public Service Act 1999. During 2018-19, there were no
suspected or actual breaches of the APS Code of Conduct.

The ALRC has a Public Interest Disclosure Policy in accordance with the Public Interest
Disclosure Act 2013. This Policy is available on the ALRC website and intranet. During 2018-
19, there were no public interest disclosures.

Conflict of interest

The ALRC Conflict of Interest Policy is designed to protect the ALRC’s reputation and
integrity; to ensure that employees understand what a conflict of interest is, and how to
recognise and avoid a conflict of interest; and to outline the ALRC process for disclosing
an actual or potential conflict of interest. This policy applies to Commissioners, employees,
contractors and consultants engaged or employed by the ALRC.

Section 29 of the PGPA Act requires members to disclose any material personal interest in a
matter under consideration by the Commission. Section 13(7) of the Public Service Act 1999,
which contains the APS Code of Conduct, requires that an APS employee must disclose
and take reasonable steps to avoid any conflict of interest (real or perceived) in connection
with APS employment. In addition, s 10 of the Act requires that the Australian Public Service
performs its functions in an impartial and professional manner.

ALRC employees are required to disclose a potential or actual conflict of interest in advance.
Failing to disclose appropriately may be regarded as misconduct. The President maintains a
Conflict of Interest Register that records any reported conflict of interest within the ALRC, for
the purpose of monitoring and managing the conflict.

During 2018-19, there were no conflict of interest disclosures.

Full-time Commissioners (members) of the ALRC make annual declarations of private
interests, which are provided to the Attorney-General in August of each year.
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Related party disclosures

Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) 124 sets out the related party disclosures
required by reporting entities including those producing General Government Sector financial
statements.

The ALRC is committed to complying with applicable Accounting Standards and associated
disclosures in the annual financial statements in compliance with AASB 124 and has
developed a policy and reporting procedure that meets both the requirements of the AASB
and the Department of Finance. This policy requires that ALRC financial statements contain
the disclosures necessary to draw attention to the possibility that its financial position and
profit or loss may have been affected by the existence of related party relationships and by
transactions and outstanding balances, including commitments.

Indemnity
The ALRC carries directors’ liability insurance for all Commissioners of the ALRC and
members of the Audit Committee.

Nature of liability

The ALRC insures against damages arising as a consequence of a wrongful act of a director,
including an error by omission or commission; a misstatement or misleading statement; or
negligent breach of duty.

The ALRC has not indemnified or agreed to indemnify any current or former officer against a
liability other than by coverage under the directors’ liability insurance.

EXTERNAL SCRUTINY AND CONTROLS

There have been no significant developments affecting the ALRC’s external scrutiny in
2018-19.
Parliamentary scrutiny

Representatives of the ALRC may appear at Senate Estimates Committee Hearings to
answer questions about ALRC operations.

The ALRC was called to Senate Estimates on 23 October 2018.
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HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

Staffing

The ALRC has one office in Brisbane. On 30 June 2019, the ALRC employed 9 staff with a
full-time equivalent staffing level of 8.2 FTE. In addition, the ALRC had one staff member on
leave without pay. These figures do not include Commissioners.

Table 5: Staffing profile as at 30 June 2019

ALRC classification Men Women Full-time | Part-time Total

EL2/PLO 2 2 2
($136,390-$ 197,573)

EL1/SLO
($101,487-$132,418)

APS 5-6/LO 4 1 3 4
($76,301-$96,653)

APS 3-4 3 3 3
($60,232-$74,078)

Total 2 7 6 3 9

Indigenous employment

During the 2018-19 financial year there were no employees who identified as Indigenous.

Staff retention and turnover

During 2018-19 five ongoing non-SES employees received a voluntary redundancy.

Employment conditions

Non-SES employees engaged directly by the ALRC are covered by the ALRC Enterprise
Agreement 2016-19. The Enterprise Agreement sets out terms and conditions of employment.
One employee is currently working with individual flexibility arrangements to reflect increased
responsibilities. The only non-salary benefits provided during the period were paid as a health
and well-being allowance.
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Performance rewards and bonuses

The ALRC Enterprise Agreement 2016-19 makes provision for performance appraisal and
allows for performance to be rewarded through a mixture of movement up the salary scale
and one-off performance bonuses for those at the top of their pay point salary band, as
summarised in Table 6.

Table 6: Performance rewards

Performance rating Outcome

Exceeding performance expectations 2 pay point increase

Meets all performance expectations 1 pay point increase

Meets most performance expectations Remain on current pay point

Remain on current pay point or go
down one or more pay points in
accordance with procedures in Clause
20, ‘Managing Underperformance’

Does not meet performance expectations

An employee who is at the maximum salary point for a classification will be eligible for a
bonus of up to 2% of his or her annual salary, based on a performance appraisal. If rated
as exceeding performance expectations, the bonus will be 2%. If rated as meeting all
performance expectations, the bonus will be 1%. If rated as meeting most, or not meeting
performance expectations, there will be no bonus awarded.

During 2018-19, three employees were awarded a performance bonus, amounting to a total
bonus payment for the year of $4,965.05.

Table 7: Performance bonuses 2018-19

Classification Number of Total paid Average Range

employees
EL 2 2 $4,235.22 $2,117.61 $1,384.06 - $2,851.16
APS 4 1 $729.83 $729.83 $729.83

Further details of total remuneration expenditure in 2018-19 are provided in the financial
statements.
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Staff development

The ALRC identifies and responds to the professional development needs of its employees
as identified during the performance appraisal process to ensure that they are able to meet
the ALRC’s objectives. The ALRC also considers requests for education and training as they
arise. The ALRC budgets for professional development at a whole-of-organisation level as
well as for individual employees. In addition, the ALRC considers attendance at relevant
conferences and professional seminars to contribute to the professional development of
staff.

Study leave

Study leave is available for all ongoing employees (full-time and part-time). Study assistance
provided by the ALRC is in the form of granting up to five days unpaid leave per academic
year (part-time staff will be granted a pro rata amount) to facilitate an employee’s study. No
employees applied for study leave during 2018-19.

Law student engagement

The ALRC offers students at select universities the opportunity to gain practical skills by
contributing to ALRC research and report writing.

In 2018-19 the ALRC established clinical education programs with the Faculty of Law at three
universities: Monash University, the University of Sydney and the University of Queensland.
Participants in these programs contribute to current ALRC inquiries by completing a range
of research tasks under the joint supervision of their university and an ALRC Legal Officer.
Participants receive course credit for their work with the ALRC.

These university partnerships replace the direct internship program previously offered by the
ALRC.

Seven clinical education students from the Faculty of Law at Monash University participated
in the ALRC internship program in 2018-19. The programs with the University of Sydney and
University of Queensland commenced in second semester 2019.

Additionally, the ALRC hosted an Aurora Project supported intern for four weeks. The Aurora
Project aims to improve educational outcomes for Indigenous Australians by facilitating
internships at a range of organisations.
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OTHER REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

Procurement and purchasing

Purchasing within the ALRC is guided by its Procurement and Purchasing Policy, which
is consistent with the Commonwealth Procurement Rules (CPRs) and the PGPA Act. As
an agency expending public money, the ALRC must be accountable for its resources and
expenditure.

The ALRC Procurement and Purchasing Policy sets ‘value for money’ as the core principle
in procurement decisions and also ensures that ALRC procurement encourages competition
and the proper use of resources, accountability and transparency. ‘Value for money’ in a
procurement process requires a comparative analysis of all relevant costs and benefits of
each proposal throughout the whole procurement cycle (whole-of-life costing) and making
decisions in an accountable and transparent manner. ‘Value for money’ also involves adopting
processes that reflect the scale and risk profile of a particular procurement and that simple
procurements should be undertaken using simple processes.

Risk management is built into ALRC procurement processes and the extent of risk
management required will vary from following routine procurement processes, to a significant
undertaking involving the highest level of planning, analysis and documentation.

Where the Government has established a coordinated Whole-of-Government procurement
contract for a particular property or service, the ALRC will use the Government contract
established for that property or service, unless an exemption has been provided. The ALRC
currently uses a coordinated procurement contract for travel, purchasing major office
machines, desktop computers, Microsoft software, and office supplies.

The ALRC publishes an Annual Procurement Plan on the AusTender website. The ALRC has
previously reported Contract Notices for:

u Subscriptions to online legal services—CN 3084922

[ ] ICT support—CN 3081972

| Rent—CN 3081902

u Office supplies and stationary—CN 1014931 and CN 1014921

u Photocopiers—CN 824411

During 2018-19, the ALRC entered into contracts for furniture and ICT.

Procurement initiatives to support small business

The ALRC supports small business participation in the Commonwealth Government
procurement market. Small and Medium Enterprises (SME) and Small Enterprise participation
statistics are available on the Department of Finance’s website.

Due to the nature of the operations of the ALRC and its small size, the ALRC’s procurement
is small in scale and under the $200,000 threshold. Much of the ALRC’s procurement is
either through Whole-of-Government panels or from SMEs. The ALRC’s Procurement and
Purchasing Policy facilitates the involvement of SMEs in procurement by:

| adopting a risk assessment framework for procurement that is commensurate with
the scale and scope of the procurement;

u communicating in clear simple language and presenting information in an accessible
format; and

| utilising electronic systems to facilitate on-time payments where possible.
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Indigenous procurement
During 2018-19, the ALRC did not contract with any Indigenous SME.

The ALRC purchased office supplies sourced from Muru Group.

Consultancies

Annual Reports contain information about actual expenditure on contracts for consultancies.
Information on the value of contracts and consultancies is available on the AusTender website.

From time to time, the ALRC may engage consultants. Prior to engaging consultants, the
ALRC takes into account the skills and resources required for the task, the skills available
internally, and the cost-effectiveness of engaging external expertise.

During 2018-19, no new consultancy contracts were entered into involving total actual
expenditure of $0. In addition, no ongoing consultancy contracts were active during the
period.

Advertising and market research

As required under s 311A of the Commonwealth Electoral Act 1918, the ALRC reports that,
during 2018-19, it did not undertake any advertising campaigns nor conduct any market
research with advertising agencies, market research organisations, polling organisations,
direct mail organisations, or media advertising organisations.

Disability strategy

The ALRC is committed to the inclusion of people with disability in its inquiry work. The ALRC
encourages consultation with people with disability by presenting our publications in a range
of different formats and, at the end of our inquiries, providing community information sheets
that outline the key recommendations made in its reports that may impact on people with
disability, where relevant.

Disability reporting is published in the Australian Public Service Commission’s State of the
Service Report and the APS Statistical Bulletin. These reports are available at apsc.gov.au.

Freedom of information

Agencies subject to the Freedom of Information Act 1982 are required to publish information
to the public as part of the Information Publication Scheme. This requirement is in Part Il of
the FOI Act and has replaced the former requirement to publish a section 8 statement in an
Annual Report. The ALRC Information Publication Plan is updated annually and contains
details about the information held within the ALRC, and how it handles this information. The
Plan is published on the ALRC website at alrc.gov.au/ips-agency-plan.

During 2018-19, the ALRC received 4 FOI requests.

Legal services expenditure

As per the Legal Services Directions 2017, the ALRC reports that during 2018-19 the ALRC
was compliant with these Directions. The ALRC spent $5,454.54 on legal expenditure for
2018-19.
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Work health and safety

The ALRC is committed to providing and maintaining the highest degree of work health and
safety for all employees and other persons who engage with the ALRC’s work by aiming to
prevent all injury and illness potentially caused by working conditions. The ALRC recognises
its responsibility to provide a healthy and safe workplace for employees and to provide them
with easily accessible information on work health and safety matters.

The ALRC Health and Safety Management Arrangements and Work Health and Safety Policy
(WH&S Policy) provide the framework for ensuring the health, safety and welfare of all its
employees. The ALRC has a commitment to consult with employees and their representatives
on health and safety issues and to work together to ensure a safe work environment.

There were no accidents or any dangerous occurrences during 2018-19 that required giving
of notice under the WH&S Act.

All employees undertake emergency procedures training at least once per year. Fire Warden
training is also undertaken on a regular basis as part of our tenancy requirements.

As a workplace health initiative under its Enterprise Agreement, the ALRC provides free and
voluntary influenza vaccinations to staff each year. In 2018-19, 5 employees took advantage
of a free vaccination.

The ALRC also offers a reimbursement of up to $150 per annum for activities that contribute
to employees’ health and well-being. In addition, all employees have access to a free and
confidential counselling service that provides up to three free sessions of counselling per
year.

Environmental performance

The ALRC maintains efficient and effective environmental office practices that comply with
relevant government policy and environmental legislation.

In line with the principles of ecologically sustainable development, and in line with s 516A
of the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (the EPBC Act), the
ALRC makes the following report for 2018-19:

Energy efficiency

The ALRC is located in the Commonwealth Law Courts Building at Level 4, 119 North
Quay, Brisbane. Automated lighting controls are used in the public and foyer areas of
the Commonwealth Law Courts. An LED lighting system is used in the ALRC office area.
ALRC employees are requested to switch off office lighting when people are out of the
office. Employees are also requested to turn off computers, printers and photocopiers
over weekends to minimise energy use. An NABERS Energy rating is not available for the
Commonwealth Law Courts building.

Waste and recycling

The ALRC supports recycling programs including for paper, co-mingled material and
electronic equipment as part of our office tenancy. ALRC employees are encouraged to sort
waste appropriately in order to maximise recycling and minimise the ALRC disposal of waste
to landfill.
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Water

The ALRC office is located at the Brisbane Commonwealth Law Courts and it is not possible
to rate the ALRC water usage separately. A NABERS Water rating is not available for the
Commonwealth Law Courts building.

Air travel

ALRC employees are encouraged to undertake air travel only where there is a demonstrated
business need and other communication methods, such as teleconferencing, are not
available or not appropriate in the circumstances. The ALRC’s air travel is most commonly to
undertake consultations for inquiry purposes and to ensure that people from around Australia
are able to meet with the ALRC about the areas of law that are under review.

Vehicles

The ALRC does not have a vehicle fleet. ALRC employees use public transport and share
vehicles as far as possible.

Printing

The ALRC has committed to reducing the amount of print copies of documents produced.
Consultation papers are now only published online, unless there are special circumstances
that require a hard copy to be produced.

All employees are encouraged to consider ways to minimise printing and encouraged to
print double-sided for documents that are for internal purposes. The general-use office copy
paper is 100% recycled, carbon neutral and Forest Stewardship Council rated.

As part of the government’s digital transition policy, the ALRC has moved away from the
creation and storage of paper records and in turn has reduced both the usage of paper and
the amount of printing done by the organisation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Attorney-General
Opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements of the Australian Law Reform Commission (‘the Entity’) for the year
ended 30 June 2019:

(a) comply with Australian Accounting Standards — Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the Public
Governance, Performance and Accountability (Financial Reporting) Rule 2015; and

(b

=

present fairly the financial position of the Entity as at 30 June 2019 and its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended.

The financial statements of the Entity, which | have audited, comprise the following statements as at 30 June
2019 and for the year then ended:

e Statement by the President;

e Statement of Comprehensive Income;

e  Statement of Financial Position;

e Statement of Changes in Equity;

e Cash Flow Statement; and

e Notes to the financial statements, comprising a Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and other
explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian National Audit Office Auditing Standards, which
incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my report. | am independent
of the Entity in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements for financial statement audits conducted by
the Auditor-General and his delegates. These include the relevant independence requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
Code) to the extent that they are not in conflict with the Auditor-General Act 1997. | have also fulfilled my other
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. | believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Accountable Authority’s responsibility for the financial statements

As the Accountable Authority of the Entity, the President is responsible under the Public Governance,
Performance and Accountability Act 2013 (the Act) for the preparation and fair presentation of annual financial
statements that comply with Australian Accounting Standards — Reduced Disclosure Requirements and the rules
made under the Act. The President is also responsible for such internal control as the President determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the President is responsible for assessing the ability of the Entity to
continue as a going concern, taking into account whether the Entity’s operations will cease as a result of an
administrative restructure or for any other reason. The President is also responsible for disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the assessment
indicates that it is not appropriate.

GPO Box 707 CANBERRA ACT 2601
19 National Circuit BARTON ACT
Phone (02) 6203 7300 Fax (02) 6203 7777
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with the Australian National Audit Office Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of the financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian National Audit Office Auditing Standards, | exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. | also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Entity’s internal control;

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Accountable Authority;

e conclude on the appropriateness of the Accountable Authority’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If | conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, | am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern; and

e evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

| communicate with the Accountable Authority regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify
during my audit.

Australian National Audit Office

Jodi George
Executive Director

Delegate of the Auditor-General

Canberra

9 September 2019
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AUSTRALIAN LAW REFORM COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the peried snded 30 June 2019

Criginal
2019 2018 Budget
Notes § $ $
NET COST OF SERVICES
EXFENSEB
Employse benafits 11A 1,834,864 2,755,205 1,966,000
Suppliers 118 813,973 872,683 665,000
Write-down and Impalrment of cthar assats 1.1¢C 14,217 - -
Depracialion and amortisation 22A 4,691 7,859 22,000
Tota| expenses 2,787,745 3,636,717 2,853,000
OWN-BOURCE INCOME
Qwn-spurce revenus
Sala of goods and rendaring of sarvicea 1.2A 301,768 128414 1,000
Clher galns 1.28 6,000 34,500 35,000
Total awn-source revenus 337,768 163,814 36,000
Total own-gourca income 337,768 163,914 36,000
Net cost of services 2,425,977 3,472,803 2,817,000
Revanue from Gavernment 1.2C 2,595,000 2,701,000 2,595,000
Sur to the Government 165,023 (771,503) {22,000}
Total comprehensive Incoma 165,023 (771,803) (22,000

The ahove statement should ba read in conjunction with the acssmpanylng noles,

Budget Varlance Cammantary
of Compi Incame

of majer variances are provided below:
Employee benefls decraasad agalnst the budgeted amount due to delays in lilling vacancles.

Supplier axpenzes increased against the budgeted amounl besause the Commission urderfock additienal Inquiries In the financial yaar instead of
the usual two concurrent Inquires.

Depreciation expenses due to the C plantand fully and new capital purchases ware brought ferward
towards the end of tha financial year.

Sala of goads and rendering of services Increased due to the change In accounting treatment for revenua in the 2018-18 financlal yoar.
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AUSTRALIAN LAW REFORM COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

as at 30 June 2018
Original
2019 2018 Budget
Notoes $ $ $
ASSETS
Financlial assets
Cash and cash aguivalents 2.1A 935,950 1,432,667 1,134,000
Trade and other recelvables 218 9,499 5,841 7,000
Tolal financlal assets 945,449 1,438,508 1,141,000
Non-flnancial assets .
Property, plant and equipment 2.2A 44,868 44,589 18,000
Other non-financial assets 228 - 27,893 34,000
Total nonsfinanclal asssts 44,688 72482 52,000
Total agsats 990,137 1,510,990 1,193,000
LIABILITIES
Payablas
Suppliers 23A 85,855 10,331 18,000
Other payables 238 550,244 911,956 125,000
Total payables 646,080 922,287 143,000
Pravisions
Employee provisions 4.1A 172,099 647,785 519,000
Total provisions 172,088 597,785 519,000
Total liabllities 818,198 1,520,072 882,000
Net assets 171,938 (9,082} 531,000
EQUITY
Conlilbuted equity 303,000 287,000 303,000
Rasarves 135,058 135,056 136,000
Accumulated surplus/{deficit) (266,119) (431,140) 92,000
Total equity 171,839 (9,082) 531,000

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Budget Varianco Commentary

Statement of Financial Position

Explanations of mejor variances ars pravided below:

The varlance In cash and cesh equivalents takes Into account the Commiission paying out redundancy payments associated
with the corporate services restruclure in the current financlal year, These llems were provided for In the 2017-18 financial
YO&r.

The varlance in property, ptant and eguipment takes into account that the Commission purchased new plant and equipment
towards the end of the financial year,

The variance in other non-financlal assets was due to ne prepayments been reporied In the current ysar.
Tha variance in supplier payables was due 1o a timing Issue.

The variance in other payables is the provision made for recelving funding from the Attorney-General's Department for the
Review of the Femily Law System,

The varlance In employse provisions takes into account the Commission paying out redundancy payments associated with the

corporate services restructure In the currant financial year.
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AUSTRALIAN LAW REFORM COMMISSION
STATEMENT OF CGHANGES IN EQUITY
as s 30 June 2019

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY .

Opening balance

Balance carried forward fram previous period
Adjusted opening balance

Transactions with owners
Contrihutions by owners
Departrnental Capital Budget
Total transactions with owners
Closing halance as 30 June

RETAINED EARNINGS

Opening balance

Balanca carriad forward from previous period
Adjusted opening balance

Comprohensive income
Surplusi{Defleif) for the perfed
Total comprehensive income
Closing balanes as 30 June

ASSET REVALUATION RESERVE
Opaning balancs

Balance canied forward from previous periad
Adlustad opening balance

Comprehensive income
Other comprehensive incoms
Total comprehensive iIncome
Closing balance as 30 June

TOTAL EQUITY

Opening balance

Balance carried forward from pravious period
Ad|usted opening balance

CGomprohensive income
Surplus/(Deficit) for the period
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners
Contributions by owners
Deparimenial Capltal Budget
Total transactions with owners
Closing balance as 30 June

Qriginal
2019 2018 Budget
$ $ 5
287,000 271,000 287,000
287,000 271,000 287,000
16,000 16,000 16,000
16,000 18,000 16,000
303,000 287,000 303,000
(431,140} 340,663 114,000
(431,140} 340,663 114,000
165,023 (771,803) (22,000)
165,023 (771,803) (22,000}
{266,119) (431,140) 92,000
135,058 135,058 136,000
135,058 135,058 136,000
135,058 135,058 138,000
(9,082} 746,721 537,000
[8,082) 746,721 537,000
165,023 (771,803 (22,000)
165,023 (771,803) (22,000)
16,000 16,000 16,000
16,000 186,000 16,000
171,939 (9,082) 531,000

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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|Am:nun(|ng Policy
Equity injections

Amounts i which ara as ‘equily Injections’ (or e year (less any formal reduclions) and Daparimentai
Capital Budgets {(DGBs) are recognised directly in contributed equity in that year.

Budget Variance Commantary

Statement of Changes in Equity
Fxplanations of major variances are provided below:
The variance in retained earnings between budpet and actual |s due to the C ission paying out payi

i with the compx services in the curcent financial year. The Commission is stll considered as a
going cancem as It has received funding from Appropriation Act 1 and Departmental Capital Budget for the 2019/20
fAnancial year,
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AUSTRALIAN LAW REFORM COMMISSION
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the period ended 30 Juns 2019

Qrlginal
2019 2018 Budget
Notas $ 3 §

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash raceived
Sele of goads and rendering of sarvices 301,885 129,414 1,000
Appropriations 2,585,000 2,701,000 2,595,000
Net GST recelved 48,385 75,822 -
Other - 837,822 -
Total cash received 2,948,270 3,744,158 2,536,000
Cash used
Employees 2,412,460 2,672,308 1,966,000
Suppliers 1,027,518 468,784 630,000
Total cash used 3,439,979 3,642,103 2,596,000
Net cash from operating activities (493,709) 102,055 -
INVESTING ACTHVITIES
Cash used
Purchase of propedy, plant and equipment 19,008 12,399 16,000
Total cash used 15,008 17,399 16,000
Net cash used by Investing activities {19,008) {17,399) {16,000)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash received
Contributed equlty 16,000 16,000 16,000
Total cash received 16,000 16,000 15,000
Net cash from financing activitles 16,000 15,000 16,000
Net Incraasel{decrease) In cash hetd (496,717 100,856 .
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporing perind 1,432,667 1,332,011 1,134,000
Caah and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting
period 835,850 1,432,667 1,134.000

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanylng notas.
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Ovarview

Oblectives of the Australlan Law Reform Commisslon

‘Tha Australian Law Refarm Gommlsston (the Commlssian) is an Australian Govermmoril contialled enthy. it s & nok-for-prafl
enity, Tre Commission supports Ihe Atiomey-Generat and the Auslralisn Govenment to mainlain and mprove Autrali's
systern of low and justizu by contributiug to the procass of law roform.

‘The Commlssion is stucturad to mael ane cuicoma: Informad povemment decislons about tha devalopment, raform and
harmatastlan of Austral an laws and tlated processes through rasearch, analysis, raparts and commanily consultaion and
adusalion,

Tho continued existance of tho Corrrisslon In llprasont form and with s prasant programs fs deponden on Goyerment
palicy and on continuing funding by Pariement for the Commission's adminisirafion #nd pragrars

Gomindszlan activities anlriblling laiverds Hiis outcome efe clessifiud es Deparimentul Activilos, Deparirental Actlvities
invalve e Lse of assots, ablilles, ncome and expanses conirolled or incurmed by the Gemmiszion In its own right

Saction 45 o the Ausirallan Low Ralann Gommission Ast 1995 (the ALRC Am), renulres thal money sppropriated by the
Parflamant bo wansforsd to the Law Ralorm §pacial Account {‘afar ta note 3.

Basls of praparation of tha financls! stetements

Tha frangiat uttaments are ganeral purpose financlul stalemanls und are requined by seclion 42 of Ihe Publis Govermance,
Parformenco and Ascauntabiity Act 2073

The inancial statements have been prapared in secoptance wih:
a) Public: Govetnaice, Peraimance sud Accounlsbifily (Fintacist Reporiing) Ruly 2015 (FRR); and

b) Ausirallan Accounting Slandaeds and Roduced Disclosure fs5ued by the Auslrslian
Accounting Standards Board {AASE) thel pply for the raparting perod.

The nanclal statements have baen prapared on an aceruat besls und In acuordangs wilh Ihe histarical cost conventlon, except
for canain asasla and fiabiides a1 fa’r vauo. Exoept whore stuled, no allowance I made for the effect of shanging piives on the
vesulls or tha financial positian. The financial statamara ara presantad in Australizn dollara.

Hew Australlan Accounting Standards

Adoplicn of New Ausiralian Ascounting Standard Requtrein,
Na accounting standard has baon adoptod sedlor than the nwlltnﬂ"n date ns stated In lhe standard.

Future Adstcalan Atcetiting Standard Raqukomonts

The fo'lowlng new slandands, emandments to standerds and Inierpratations wara issusd by the Ausirallen Accountiag
Standards Board prior to the sign-off date. Thesa are expactad 1o have a finenclal Impacl on the depadment far kuture repcriing
perlods:

FaFFeator
Stmgmsierarsiates | sate fartne Nsturg of wipending enargaic in aetounsing ol o
bty

8399 15 R e fren VIaN 30T 72 Conera 00 Wil Ap5ls AALELE Ravaae front (anlencts with

TANMANNE v Cutteneet Cugtemans liamw 201670, The standand cquies revenue om
i) SOMENCHS 1 20¢ FEEGGNIGET A5 nF enlly analary gooze ond
Gemlcors 1o e cuTicmert THE AT i Ot £ ave
matar ol mpo.: o the 1210361 on% 00 bancen recogrlzad it e
nan stozerients.

TASE 17 Leoses TIon 3078 T Tns Commotan wit analy 4256 15 teasss Fom 201320 Tre

aBnaaT raquures the it present value of pa,mema under o
BPEBUNY 19223 16 b IELUIFIE A5 ket 0 6 Lo TiIEe fo f02
e  nghleatuse aosct, Inckidi1g ootlon: peroda
wen I @ re0aably caain te saend o leass, The Commission
133 5'gned e ar ¥18 1870 0f S yaamo. tenrrencing
1 Oeisbr JB1E and wading 3C Sepramner 2022 an ol
Atirclcates tha 130 Cf 116 61373070 vitl
lantia frepact en the Toane ztaceevects, Thare wf
9l5¢ bE 3 €13q¢ B INe £ALENsE CAARAT {FEnt S Rano2n
“bchEa v th ed-boaten and Mlerkel 3 cRnie)

TEEBTOZE Income of froblar | 1 0an 2019 | 24,55 1028 teome of Wanfac-Prafi: £  apaly fam 26°3
Froft Entllee 20 The roguliamants of 4158 1096 mois sasey 3Nt ha
sesrente realty of HFE 87Uy MANe3cloNE 11at are Aol conl acty
weds custemers (35 datned (1 AASETE, Tae siving pfincoma
£A2AQNIOR EAESLY 4 KN HIANT DUEY A rIN0OLIER Qruen NG 12 8
@ity or oensr perdominng= obloator 8 sremies 16 Yanster &
GO O EEVICED B § CANITILEN by QYIS HATE [0 2 MpaEL
{oweh 33 ©asn of AA0Ier sceljreseved by an ortly, T
Bondardforol expectsd 1 nave o Malen manit et e Sraner
sravernar

ALEEH Z0VE-3 Ameadtagme 0 [ 1AM 2019 [ 0B 2016.F ket drendinteie 10 A4T0 | AATE 56

Austatian acecentng 117, 8458 QH\GAA’E 1L£8. W provides & temeorary oplion for
andarts ~ Rignt-o! reft enctian to na: t6 0 CIAT4 OF 139565 o fight-ol-
Sasei otlinto i o (VItiig URIET CORGABEIBNNYy IETBEE A INTiG (BCOGG

g AUTATvAlE Rce LITRer JuiDACE 10 & DEcled (0 e dEvelepee
galst Fo-Tor-OreTt eni 88 In Megare FIRI-ahuse asgeta ac fal
vaue,

Taxatlon

Tho Czmmission Is axempt fram oll forrrs of taxation excepl Frage Benglita Tax {FBT) and the Guods and Surviess Tax
Evonts after tha reporting perlod

Doparimantal
Thara have baan no subsaquart evonts thal havo the potentialto signilicantly eficcl the ongolng structure and tha fnanclet
aciivilas of tha Gommisshon.
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This seclian analyses the fnandat parfarmence of
Note 1: Financial Performance Ausirattan Law Ruform Gommisslon for the year

endad 30 June 2014,
2099 2018
$ §
1.8 Emplayee heneflts '
Wages and salades 1,594,370 1,825,774
Superannualion
Defined benefi plans 1m0 176,908
Dofinad contribition plans 137,999 56,804
Laave and olher entlilemenls 116,005 173,041
Separation and redundancles B6,7B2 522,691
Total amployea benafits 1,034,884 2,756.206
[Accaunting Palley

Arcouniing poficles for emeloyoe refated expanses Is cartained in Note 4 4 - People and Re'alionships

1B: Suppllers '
Goads and servicos suppliod or rondared

Committass T4,262 174,200
Library 28,448 8,817
Prolessicnal services 91,087 73,432
Prinling and offica raquishies 26,073 1,2m
Freight and removals 21402 1,080
Telephona and poslage FIf s 18,036
Ircklentals 21,676 8241
Mitor assals 54,048 10,177
Stafl training 835 2235
Malntenance 15,798 7484
Promlional sctvllies - 12,183
Adverlising 48 19424
Travel 187,278 140,528
IT sanvices 8,460 16,623
Tatal goods and servieas suppllad ar randarsd 597,976 537,410
Goods supplied 470,849 502810
Sarvizes rendersd 121027 34,500
Tatal goods and services supplied or rendered 587,878 537,410

Qtner aupplios

Minmum (2ase paymanks 210,904 930,633
Woarkers companaalion expenses 5,003 5,610
Tolal other suppliers 216997 296243
Tolol suppllers ) 813,073 73,653

Leasing commitments

Tha Commlsslun's lease payments are subect to an annual increase of approximately 3% In accordance with
upwards moverrents in the Gansumer Price Index. The commitmants are GST Ineluslve whare ratavant. Oparating
Jaase includad |5 sifecively non-cancellacte, The Commissian's lease exglres 30 Saplembar 2023,

‘The Commlasion has made a commitmant to enler a laasing amangement for a perlod ef five years, starling 1
Qotober 2018,

Commitmants for minimum tease payments In relaiion 1o nen-canesliablo oporating lansas ars payable as
foltows:

Wilhla 1 yoar 70,447 106,960
Between 1 to 5 years 734,478 -
Total aperaling leaze commlimants 504,828 108,800

Accounting Polley

Oparaling laase payments are expensed on a stralphtine basls which s represeative of the patiem of banafits
darived fram the leased assets.

1.1C: Wrlte-down and impairmant of other assats
Iingaleent of proparly, plant and eguipment 14,217 v

* The prior yaar comparatives for amployae berefits and suppller axpansas hava baen uprated to raflact Iha
carraction In accounting roalmert of the futding provided by he Atiomey-General's Depariment for the review of
the Tarily law systein. Thera was no overell firsncial Impact,
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1.2 Own-source revanue and galns

2019 2018
$ §
1.2A: Sale of goeds and rendering of services ! 301,760 129,414

Accaunting Policy

Revenua from the sals of goods end rendering of services is recognised when the goods and garviess have besn
providad.

1.2B; Othsr geins
Rasourcet raccived free of charge - ANAO 36,000 34,600

[Accounting Policy
[Resources recejved free of charge

Rasourcas recolvad frea of charge ara racognised as revanue when, and enly wnan, e fair value can ba reliably
determined and the services would have been purchased if they had not been donated. Use of those rasources
|s racognised as an expense. Resourcee racelved frae of charge are racordad ae either ravanuo or gains
depending on their nature,

1.2C! Revonie fram Governinent
Appropriailons
Daparimantal appropriations 2,595,000 2.701,000

Accounting Policy

[Revenua from Govarpmiant

[Amounts approp for dep pprop for tne year (adjusted for any formal additions and
raductions) are racognisad as Revenue from Govarnment when {hs entity gains contrel of the appropriation,
laxcept for certain amaunts that relate to activities thal are raciprocal In nalure, in which casa revenue is
recognised only when it hee been eamed. Appropriati i aa at thelr nominal emounls.

1 This reprasants funding provided by the Attornay-Ganeral's Dapartment for the review of the family law system.
The prior year comparative has basn updated to reflact the correctlon in aceounting traatment. This eorraction
amountad la §125,953 but had no financial impact overall.
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This saction analyses lha Austrafian Law Relform

Commisslon's assets used to conduct its pperations and
Note 2: Financial Position the operaling liabllities incurred as & result,

Emplayee related information is disclosed in the Peopla

and Relationshlps section

nancial assets

2019 2018
§ $

2.1A: Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand er on daposil 129,238 5,147
Cash in speciel accounts 806,712 1,427,820
Total cash and cash equivalants 415,850 1,432,667
The closing balance of Cash in spacial accounts does not include amounts heid in trust.
2.1B: Trade and other recelvablag
Guoods and sarvices receivablaes
Gooads and services 329 54
Total goods and servicas recelvables 320 54
Other receivables
Statutary receivables 9,170 5,787
Total other receivables 9,170 5,787
Total trade and olher receivablas (gross) 9,499 5,841
Total trade and other recelvables {net} 9,469 5,841

Accounting Policy

Receivables

Trade and other recsivables that have fixed or determinable payments and that are not guoled in an active market are
classifiad as receivahles. Recelvables are measured et amortised cost using the effective interest methad iass
impairment. Trade and other recelvables are assessed for impairmant at the end of each reporting period. At year end
none are overdus, Credit larms for goods and servicas wars within 30 days (2018: 30 days).
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Inancial acsets

2.2A: Reconclliatlon of the opening and closing balances of plant and eguipment

Ptant and
equipment Total
] $
As at 1 July 2018
Gross baok value 121,336 121,336
Accumulated depreclation {76,748} (76,748}
Total as at 1 July 2018 44,508 44,538
Addltions
Purchase 19,008 19,008
Depreciation {4,601) {4,691}
Disposals
Proparty, plant and aquipmont {14.217) 4,217}
Total as at 30 June 2013 44,608 44,688
Tolal as at 30 June 2019 rapresented by
Gross book valua 117,586 117,566
lated jiation and i {72,878) (F2,B78)
Total as at 30 Juns 2010 44,688 44,688

Plart and aquipment ara not expactad to ba disposad of within tha next 12 months.
Revaluations of non-financial ssets
All were conducted in with the: policy stated balow.

No indicators of impairment wers found for plant and equipment.

Accaunting Polley

|Assets are recorded et cost on acqulsition except as statad below. The cost of acqulsliion ineiudas tha fair
value of assets transferred In exchange and lahilitles underlaken. Financlal assels ara initially measured at
thelr fair valug plus transaction costs where appropriate.

Assets acquired at no cosy, or for nominal consideralion, are initlally re:ugmsad ac aseels and income at thelr
falr valus at the data of acquisition, unless acquired as a of

[arangements. (n the latar case, assats are inltially recognised as EDHIHDU!IDH! by owners at the amounts at
which they were tecoghised in Lhe fransferor's accounts Immediately priorto the restructuring,

[Assat Recognifion Thrashald

Furchases of planl and equipment are recognised Initially at cost in tha slatement of financtal position, excapt
for purchases costing lass {har: §4,000, which are axpensed In the year of acqulsition {other than where they
torm part of a group of simliar Items which ara significant in total),

Revafustions

Following initial recagnition at cost, plant and equipmant are carrled at fair value less subsequant accumulated

and losses. Valyations aro conductad with sulficlent frequency to snsure
that the carrying amounts of assels do not differ matenially feom the assats’ falr values as at the reporting date.
The regutarly of Independent valuallons depanded upen the volatility of mevements In market, values for tha
refevant assels.

Revaiuation adustments are made o a class basis. Any rovaiuztion incroment is ereditec to squity under ihe
heading of assst tevaluation reserve except to the extent that it reversed a prevluns revaluation decrement of
the same asset class hat was previously in he for a class
of assets are recognised diractly in the surplus/delicit excapt to the extant thal they reversed a preyous
ravaluatlon incramant for that ¢lass.

Any as attha date Is rostalod proportionalaly wilh the changz In tha
gross carrying amoum of the assel so that Ihe carrying amount of the esset after revaluation equals its
revaluad amount,

Deprociation

Depraclahie planl ard equipment assals are written-off to their estimatac residual valuss over their astimatad
useful lives to the entlty using, I all cases, the straight-line method of depreciatlon

Depraclation rates (useful llves), residual values and mathods are reviswed at each raporiing date and
necessary adjustments are racognised In the currenl, or current and fulare reporting periods, as appropriate,

Dopreclation ralas applying at present are 3-10 yars.

2019 2018
H $

2.2B: Other non-financial essets
Prepaymanls - 27893
Total other non-financial assets - 27,893

Ne Indicalors of Impairmant wana found for other non-financlal assels.
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Payables

2019 2018
] $

Z.3A: Suppllers
Trade creditors and aceruala - ngl more than 12 monlhs 69,539 10,331
Operating lease rentals 8,256 11,838
Total suppliere 85,855 21,969
Setllement s usually mado nol 30 days.
2. ther pavablgs
Wages and saarlas 10,488 62,396
Uneamed Ingoma 518,750 837,922

Total ather payables

Other payables expoctod fo ba settled

No mora than 12 menths £46.009 022,287
646,089 822,287

Total ather payables

550,244 900,316

Accounting Palisy
1. Refer to Note 1.18.
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This section identifies the Australian Law Reform Commission's funding structure.

Note 3: Funding

3.1 Apprapriations

3.1A; Annual appropriations (recoverable GST exclusive')

Annual appropriations for 2018

Appropriation
applied in 2019
Annual  Adjustments o Total {Gurrent and
appropriation ' appropriation z appropriation prior years} Variance
$ $ $
DEPARTMENTAL
Ordinary annual services 2,595,000 " 2,595,000 2,585,000 -
Capital budget * 16,000 - 16,000 16,000 -t
Total departmontal 2,611,000 - 2,611,000 2,611,000 -

1. th 2048-19 no amount of appropriaticn has been withheld (Section 81 af the FGPA Act) and quarantined for adiministrative purposes:
2. No amount was received from the PGPA Act Section 74 raceipts.

3. In 2018-19, there was no variance.

4. Departmental Capital Budgets are appropristed through Appropiiation Act (No. 1). They form part of ardinary annual services, and
ara not separately identified in the Appropriation Act.

Annual appropriations for 2018

Appropriation
applied in 2018

Annual  Adjustments to Total (current and prior
appropriation®  appropriation®  appropriation years) Variance *
k $ $
DEPARTMENTAL
Ordinary annual services 2,709,000 3,461 2,712,461 2,704,461 8,000
Capital budget * 16,000 - 16,000 16,000 -
Total departmental 2,725,000 3,481 ‘2,728,461 2,720,461 £,000

1. In 2017-18 an amount of $0.008m of appropnation has been withheld (Section 61 of the PGPA Act) and quarantingd for
administrative purposes.

2. An amount of $3,461 was received from the PGPA Act Section 74 receipls.

3. In 2018-19, there was a variance of $0.008m, dua to =51 quarantine in Appropriation.

4, Departmental Capital Budgets are appropriated through Apprapriation Act (No. 1), They form par of ordinary annual services, and
fior Act.

are not sep: ly identified in the /
3.1B: Unspent annual appropriations (' GST ive')
2019 2018
$ 3
Departmental
2018-18 Appropriation Act 1 - -
2017-18 Appropriation Act 1 - 8,000
- 8,000

Total departmental
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3.2 Special accpunts

Law Raform Special Account
{Departmental}

2019 2018

. 8 5
Balanes braught forward from previous period 1,432,687 1,232,041
Increases
Appropriation credited to special account 2,611,000 2,717,000
Qiher receipts 301,888 841,383
Total incroases 2,912,885 3,558,383
Available for payments .._4,245,552 4,890,394
Decreases '
Departmental
Paymenls made to suppliers 997,142 (802,227)
Paymenls made to employees (2,412,460} {2,575,500)
Total decreases e (3:409,602) (3,457.727)
Total balance carrled to the next period 935,850 1,492,687
Balanca ropresented by:
Cash held In departmenial bank accourts 128,238 5147
Cash held In ib2 Official Public Account . 806,712 1,427,520
Tetal balance carrlad to the next period 935,960

Public and Act 2013 sectien 80; Zstablishing

1. Apprap
Ir\strument Avstralian Law Reform Fumm/“slun Act 1996 | sectlon 45,

2. The purpose of ihe Special Account is:

(a) 1o pay the costs, expenses and other obligations incur-ed by the Commonwealin In the panormance of the
Commission's functions;

(b) to pay any remuneratian and allowarices payabla o a person urder the Australian Law Reform Comimission
Act 1998;

(¢} ta pay the expenses af administering the Account;

() 16 pay any amount that is required ar permitiad 1o ba repaid; and

{e) to reduce the balance of the Account (and, therefare, the available appmpnahnn for the Agcount) without
making a real or nelional payment,
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This saclion descrlbes a range of employment and post

Note 4: People and Relationships employment benefiis provided o our paople ano our
raiztionships with ofher key peopla.

4.1 Employeo provisions

2019 2018
$ ¥
4.1A: Employes provislons

Leave 172,099 04817
Beparaflons and redundancies - 292,968
Total employes provisions 172,099 597,785

Employee provisione expected o be settied
Na more than 12 months 83,082 511,577
More than 12 manths. 89,087 86,208
Total employas provisions 172,099 687705

Accounting Poficy

Liablitles far ‘short-term’ employee baneflls and termination benafits expacled wilhin twalve months af the and of
reporling pariad are maasurad at thelr naminal amounts,

Leave

The Ifablity far employee benefig includes provision for annual laave and long sorvice leave.

[The leave llabllties ara calculatad on the basls of employees’ remuneretion at the estimeted salary rales that wil e
appiied at the tima the laava is taken, including tha C s bmployer i rates, la
the extent (hat the leave is ikely to be taken during service rather (han pafd oul on ferminatlon,

The estimats of the present valie of the liablity takes nts aecount allrlion rates and pey 1rereases hrough
[promotion and inflation.
{Sepsration

Pravislon is made for aeparation and benelit payments. The C ior resegnises & provision for
[termination when K has developed & detalled formal plen for the lemminations and has infermed those emplayses
affected that it will carry out the tarminations.

Supecannuation

Tha Gommisslon's stafl are mernbars of the Publiz Secler Suparannuation Schem (PS8}, or the PSS
[accumulalion pian (PESap), or olher supsrannuaion funds held oulside the Australian Govemment.

Tho PSS is & defined beneflt schem for the Australian Government. The FSSap is a dafined conlribution scheme.

The liabllity for defined benefits s In the financlal of the Australlan andlis
settled by the Australian Governmenl in due courss. This liablity Is raparted In the Depariment of Finance's
adminislerad schadules and notas.

The G makes emplayer 16 the ined bansfit schema at rales
by en acluary to be sufficient to meet the current cost to the Government, The Commission gscounls
for the: ibutions a3 if they ware fons to defined i plans,

The liabillty far suparannuation racognised as at 30 Juno 2048 reprasants culstanding contributions for the final
forinight of tho yaar.

Accounting Judgements and estimates

Tha sriployse beneflts provisians have been aslimalad in accordance with AASE 118 Employae Benefita and
reflact tha expecied valus of thoss banaiits,

ALRC Annual Report 2018-2019




4,2 Koy managameant pessoanel remuneration

Hey Management Personnel are hase parsons having authorily and responaibiiy for glanning, direcling and
centrolling the aclivitias of the Commisslon, directly or Indiractly, Including any director (whather executive or
oclharwisa) of lhe C: lssion, Tha C has the Hey Personnel to be Executive
Qfficers, Including the President and Cammiss:onar.

Key Managemani Parsannel ramuneration Is reparted In tha table balow,

2018 2018
$ §
Short-term employse benalits
Salary 537,42 702,724
Other * - 18,123
Total short-tarm employea benalits. 537,413 718847
Post-employment benefits - superannuation B,418 64,831
Cther long-teem employsd benefils
Annual leave 41480 46,156
Long service laave - 15,001
‘Total othar [ong-term amployse benefils 49,468 61,157

Tarmination banaftts - 181,580
Tolal key management personnsl remunaration expenses 587,280 1,027,515

The fotal numbor of kay management personnel thet are includad in the above table are 2 {2018: 5. ¥

¥ The above hey personnsl excludes the and other benefits of the
Attemey-Genaral whose remunoralion and otherbenefits are get by the Remunaralion Tribunal and are ot peid
by this Commission.

2 Other ineludes motor vehlclas and reporiable fringe benefis.

* Tha key personnel Included all ive ey parsonnel and extended
acting anangements for the full year.

4.3 Rolatad party disclasura;

Related party retatlonshtps:

‘The Commission |s an Auslrallan Govamment controfled entity. Related pariles Lo this Commission are key
management parsenna! Including the Portiolic Minister, President, Commissioner, and ather Auslialian
Govamment entiies.

Transactions with falated pariles:

Glvon tho breadth of povemment aclvitles, related parlias may franzact with {he gavemment sector n the same
capacity as ordinary cizens,

Transactions with relaled parlies of AGD have occurred within normal customer or supplier relationship on lsrms
and condftiens no mare favourable Ihan those which It is reesanabla to expact AGD would nave entered into on an
arm's-iength basis. These ransactions have not been separately disclosed,

Giving censideration to releitonships with rolated enlifias, and transactions entered into durng Lhe reparting period
by the Commisslon, il has bean determined that thera ara ro relatad party iransacilons lo ba separataly disclosed,
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This seclion analyses haw the Australlan Law Raform
Commlssfon manages financlal risks within its operating

Note 5: Managing Uncertainties environment,
Financlal Instruments
2019 2018
§ $
5.1A: Categorles of financlat Instruments
Financial asssts under AASB 139
Loens and recelvabies
Cash and cash equivalants - 1.432.867
Trade receivables - 54
Total loans and recalvablos - 1,432,721

Financlal aszets under AASB 9
FInanclal assatz at amartlsed cost

Cash and cash aquivalants 935,950 -
Trade receivablas 328 -
Total financlal acsets at amortised coat 938,279 -
Taotal financlal assete 936,279 1.432,721

Financial liabillties
Financlal liabilltias measured at amortised cost

Trade craditors 89,509 10,331
Othar payables £50,244 911,956
Total financial llabllitles measured at amortisad cost 639,643 922,287
Total financlal llabllities 639,843 922,287
Glassltication of flnanclal assets on the date of Initial of AASB 9
AASB S
AASB 139 AASE 138 carrylng
origlna) AASH 9 naw carrylng amaunt amount at 1
classitication class|fication at 1 July 2018 July 2018
Financtal asset class Note $ $
Loans and
Cash and cash equivalent: ALY recelvables Amarilsed cost - 1,432,667
Loans and
Trada recaivatlas 2.8 receivables Amortlsad cost - 54
Tota financial assets - 1,432,721
Reconciliation of carrying amounts of financial assets on the date of Initial ion of AASB 9
AASHE 129 AAsSB Y
carrying carrylng
amount at 30 Reclassificatio amount at 1
June 2018 n Remeasurement Jduly 2018
$ $ $ $

Flnancial assets at amortised cost

Loans and recelvables

Cash and cash equivalants 1,432,667 {1,432,687) - 1,432,667
Trade recelvables 54 (54} - 54
Total amoriised cost 1,432,721

1. The change in camylng amount of {oans and recaivables based on measuremant undar AASHT3S Is nil, Tha changa in
measurement on transtifon to AASE 3 s nil.

Therg have been ne net gains or Joszos on financial assets In 2018-19 (2018: nll). There have been no net gains or
lossas on financlal Hakllilles in 2018-13 (2018: ni).

No finenclal assets have been reclassified in 2018-19 {2018: ntl).
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Accounting Pollcy
Financial sssets

With the implementation of AASB 8 Financlal Instrunents for the first ime In 2018, the entlly classifies lis financtal assats
in ihe following calegories:

a} financlal asssts at feir value through profit or loss;

b) financial assets at falr value through other comprehensive

Income; and

<) financial assets measured at amorlisad cos.

The classification depends on bath the enlity's business modal for managing 1he financlsl assets and contractual cash
flow characterlstics at the ime of inftlal recognition. Financlal assets ere racognised when the entity hecomes a parly to
ha contragt &nd, as @ consequenca, has a legal right to recelve or a lagal ebligation to pay cash end deracognised whan
tha contractuz! rights to tha cash Nows from the financlal asset expira or are transfarred Lpon trade data,

Comparatives hava not baan restated on Inltlat application

| Einancial assets at amortiasd cost

Flnanclal assets Included in this category need (o meat two criterla:

1.the financlal asest |s held in order o collect tha conltracival cash flows; and
2. the cash flowa are solely payments of princlpal and Interest

(SPPI) on the principal outslanding amolint.

costls il using the elfactiva interest mathod.

Effactiva Inferest method

Income Ia recognised on an effeclive Interest rate basis for financlal assets that are recognised al amoriised cost,
Flnanclal assels at fair vatus through otfier comprehiensive fncome (FYOCH)

Flnancial assets measured al fair value through other comprehensiva incama ara held with the objective of belh coliecting
contractual cash Rowa and selling the Mnanclal essels and the cash flows mesl lhe SPP test.

Any gains or losees as a result of falr velua or the of an lost ellowanca Is
recognlsed in other comprehensiva incoms,

Financlal asssis at falr value throuah profit or ioss {FVTPL)

Financial assets are classilled as financial essets at falr value through proflt or loss where the financlal essets elther
doasn't meet the criteria of financfal esseta hald et emortised cost ar at FYOC) (l.e. mandatorlly held at VTPL) or may be
designated.

Financial asssta at FVTPL are stated at falt value, with any resuliant galn ar loss recognised In profit or loss. The net galn
or loss recognised In profil or oss Incorporatas ahy Interest earnad on the financlal asset.

impalment of fnencial assels

Financial assets are assessad for impalmment at tha and of aach reporling parlod based on Expecled Credit Losses, using
tha general approach which massures tha loss ellowance based on an amount equel to (fetime expected credil losses
where risk has significantly Increased, or an emount equal to 12-month expected credi losses if risk has not incressad.

The simpliftad approach for trada, coniract and tease ragalvables |3 used. This approach aiways measures the loss.
allowance s the amount equal to the fetime expected cradit lasses.

A write-off conatitutes a derecopnlilon event whets ihe write-alf directly reduces the gross carrying amount of the financle|
assst.

Financiat tiabllitles

Flnanclal llabllities are lassified es elthar Nnanclal Rablitles ‘al falr value through profit or loss’ or other finenclat liablitiss.
Financtal Habilites are recognised and deracognised upon ‘trade date'.

|[Finapcial iablitles at falr vaiue through profit or loss

Financial labilities et fair value through profll or loss ere Initially measurad &t falr valus. Subsequent fair value
adjustmenls are recognised In profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss Incorperates any inlerest paid
on the financlal liablity.

Elnanclal liablitles at emortised cost

Financial liabllitles, Including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, nat of transaction costs. Thesa liabilities are
subsequently measured at amottised cost using the effactive inlerest method, wilh Interest expense racognised on an
effactive Interest basis.

|Supplier and olher payablas are racognised at amortjaed cosi. Liabilitles are racogniaad to the exlent thal the goeds or
services have been recelved {and irespeclive of having been involced).




Falr vail romant

Accounting Policy

Tho commission tesls ths procaduras of the valualon moda) a¢ &n asset malariniity raview at 162z ence avary 12 monthe (with a formel
reveluation undertakon oneo ovary thrao years). il a pariicular asset class experiances significant and velalilo changes in far valus {L.e.
where Indicatars suggest that the valus af tha dlass has ghanged ralartelly slnce the pravious reparing pariod), that clase s aubjact o
specille vaturiion in the raporing period, where praclicable, regardless of the Uming of tha las! specific valvatian,

5.2A: Falr val a5 uroment

Fair valus moasuraments at {ho
nd of ths repeding porfod

2018 2018
$ $

‘Nen-financial asaots *
Plant and sgulprent * 44,688 44,589
Total 44,688 44,588

1.Na non-inanclel assels wars mersured al fair valia on & non-recurring bests a3 & 30 June 2018 (2018: nil).

2. The commisslon's assats aie held for operalional purpeses and nat held for the purposs of dariving a profit. The current uss of all non-
finangie) aesats Is considered tholr highost and best use.

3. Thero were no Iransfors batwaen |evels during tha year,

4. Tha ramaking assats and liabiliias regenad by Ihe Commission ara nol moasured af falr valus in Ihe Stalament of Finanefal Position.
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Note 6: Other information

6.1 Aggregate assets and liabilities

2019 2018
$ $
B.1A: Aggregate assets and liahilities
Assets expected to be recovered In:
No maore than 12 months 945,449 1,466,401
More than 12 months 44,688 44,589
Total agssts 590,137 1,510,990
Liabllities expected to settled in:
No more than 12 months 729,131 1,433,864
More than 12 menths 89,067 86,208
818,198 1,520,072

Total liablllties




ENTITY RESOURCE STATEMENT AND EXPENSES FOR
OUTCOMES 2018-19

Entity Resource Statement 2018-19

Actual available Payments
appropriation for made Balance
2018-19 2018-19 remaining
$000 $°000 2018-19
(@) (b) (@) - (b)
Special Accounts
Opening balance 1,433
Appropriation receipts’ 2,611
Other receipts 302
Payments made 3,410
Total Special Account 4,346 3,410 936
Total net resourcing and
payments for ALRC? 4,346 3,410

1. Appropriation Act (No.1) 2018-19, and includes an amount of $0.016m in 2018-19 for the
Departmental Capital Budget. For accounting purposes this amount has been designated as
‘contributions by owners’.

2. This may also include prior year departmental appropriations and section 74 Retained Revenue
Receipts.
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Expenses for Outcome 1

Outcome 1: Budget” Actual Variation
Informed government decisions about the expenses
development, reform and harmonisation of

Australian laws and related processes through 2018-19 2018-19 2018-19
research, analysis, reports and community $°000 $°000 $°000

consultation and education.

(@) (b) (@) - (b)

Program 1: Conducting inquiries into aspects
of Australian laws and related processes for
the purposes of law reform.

Departmental expenses

Departmental appropriation’

Special Accounts 2,595 2,595 0
Expenses not requiring appropriation in the

Budget year 58 173 115

Total for Program 1 2,653 2,768 115

Outcome 1 Totals by appropriation type
Departmental expenses

Departmental Appropriation’

Special Accounts 2,595 2,595 0
Expenses not requiring appropriation in the

Budget year 58 173 115

Total expenses for Outcome 1 2,653 2,768 115

2017-18 2018-19

Average Staffing Level 13 11
*  Full year budget, including any subsequent adjustment made to the 2018-19 Budget.

1. Departmental Appropriation combines Ordinary annual services (Appropriation Act No.1) and
Retained Revenue Receipts under section 74 of the PGPA Act 2013.







GLOSSARY AND
INDEXES




GLOSSARY

AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board

ALFA Association of Litigation Funders of Australia

ALRC Australian Law Reform Commission

ALRC Act Australian Law Reform Commission Act 1996 (Cth)

AM Member of the Order of Australia

ANAO Australian National Audit Office

ANU Australian National University

AO Office of the Order of Australia

APS Australian Public Service

ASIC Australian Securities and Investments Commission

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CPR Commonwealth Procurement Rules

Cth Commonwealth of Australia

DCB Departmental Capital Budget

DP Discussion Paper

EL Executive Level

EPBC Act Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (Cth)
ERMP Enterprise Risk Management Plan

FCP Fraud Control Plan

FOI Freedom of Information

FOI Act Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Cth)

FTE Full-Time Equivalent

GAICD Graduate Member, Australian Institute of Company Directors
IP Issues Paper

KPI Key Performance Indicator

LO Legal Officer

NABERS National Australian Built Environment Rating System

PDF Portable Document Format

PGPA Act Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013 (Cth)
PGPA Rule Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Rule 2014 (Cth)
PLO Principal Legal Officer
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PS Act Public Service Act 1999 (Cth)
QC Queen’s Counsel

SES Senior Executive Service

SLO Senior Legal Officer

SME Small and Medium Enterprises
UNSW University of New South Wales
WH&S Work Health and Safety




LIST OF REQUIREMENTS

This is a guide to the report’'s compliance with the requirements for Annual Reports as
required by s 17AJ(d) of the PGPA Rule.

Part of Description Page No.
Report

Letter of Transmittal

A copy of the letter of transmittal signed and dated iii
by accountable authority on date final text approved,

with statement that the report has been prepared in

accordance with section 46 of the Act and any enabling

legislation that specifies additional requirements in

relation to the annual report.

Aids to Access

Table of contents. iv-v
Alphabetical index. 86
Glossary of abbreviations and acronyms. 78-79
List of requirements. 80-85

Details of contact officer. ii

Entity’s website address. ii

Electronic address of report. ii

Review by Accountable Authority

A review by the accountable authority of the entity. 2

Overview of the Entity

A description of the role and functions of the entity. 4
A description of the organisational structure of the entity. 4
A description of the outcomes and programmes 22
administered by the entity.

A description of the purposes of the entity as included in 4
corporate plan.

Name of the accountable authority or each member of 34
the accountable authority.

Position title of the accountable authority or each 34
member of the accountable authority.

Period as the accountable authority or member of the 34
accountable authority within the reporting period.

An outline of the structure of the portfolio of the entity. Not applicable
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Part of
Report

Description

Page No.

Where the outcomes and programmes administered by
the entity differ from any Portfolio Budget Statement,
Portfolio Additional Estimates Statement or other
portfolio estimates statement that was prepared for the
entity for the period, include details of variation and
reasons for change.

Not applicable

Report of the Performance of the Entity

Annual Performance Statements

Annual performance statement in accordance with 22-30
paragraph 39(1)(b) of the Act and section 16F of the Rule.

Report on Financial Performance
A discussion and analysis of the entity’s financial 32
performance.
A table summarising the total resources and total 74-75

payments of the entity.

If there may be significant changes in the financial
results during or after the previous or current reporting
period, information on those changes, including: the
cause of any operating loss of the entity; how the entity
has responded to the loss and the actions that have
been taken in relation to the loss; and any matter or
circumstances that it can reasonably be anticipated will
have a significant impact on the entity’s future operation
or financial results.

Not applicable

Management and Accountability

Corporate Governance

Information on compliance with section 10 (fraud
systems).

38

A certification by accountable authority that fraud
risk assessments and fraud control plans have been
prepared.

38

A certification by accountable authority that appropriate
mechanisms for preventing, detecting incidents of,
investigating or otherwise dealing with, and recording or
reporting fraud that meet the specific needs of the entity
are in place.

38

A certification by accountable authority that all
reasonable measures have been taken to deal
appropriately with fraud relating to the entity.

38

An outline of structures and processes in place for
the entity to implement principles and objectives of
corporate governance.

34-40

A statement of significant issues reported to Minister
under paragraph 19(1)(e) of the Act that relates to non-
compliance with Finance law and action taken to remedy
non-compliance.

Not applicable
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Part of Description Page No.

Report
External Scrutiny
Information on the most significant developments 40
in external scrutiny and the entity’s response to the
scrutiny.
Information on judicial decisions and decisions of Not applicable

administrative tribunals and by the Australian Information
Commissioner that may have a significant effect on the
operations of the entity.

Information on any reports on operations of the entity Not applicable
by the Auditor-General (other than report under section

43 of the Act), a Parliamentary Committee, or the

Commonwealth Ombudsman.

Information on any capability reviews on the entity that Not applicable
were released during the period.

Management of Human Resources

An assessment of the entity’s effectiveness in managing 43
and developing employees to achieve entity objectives.

Statistics on the entity’s employees on an ongoing and Not applicable.
non-ongoing basis, including the following:

(a) statistics on full-time employees;
(b) statistics on part-time employees;
(c) statistics on gender;

(d) statistics on staff location.

Statistics on the entity’s APS employees on an ongoing 41
and non-ongoing basis, including the following:

Statistics on staffing classification level;
Statistics on full-time employees;
Statistics on part-time employees;
Statistics on gender;

Statistics on staff location;

Statistics on employees who identify as Indigenous.

Information on any enterprise agreements, individual 41
flexibility arrangements, Australian workplace

agreements, common law contracts and determinations

under subsection 24(1) of the Public Service Act 1999.

Information on the number of SES and non-SES 41
employees covered by agreements etc identified in
paragraph 17AG(4)(c).

The salary ranges available for APS employees by 41
classification level.
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Part of Description Page No.
Report

A description of non-salary benefits provided to 41
employees.
Information on the number of employees at each 42

classification level who received performance pay.

Information on aggregate amounts of performance pay at 42
each classification level.

Information on the average amount of performance 42
payment, and range of such payments, at each
classification level.

Information on aggregate amount of performance 42
payments.

Assets Management

An assessment of effectiveness of assets management Not applicable
where asset management is a significant part of the
entity’s activities.

Purchasing

An assessment of entity performance against the 44
Commonwealth Procurement Rules.

Consultants

A summary statement detailing the number of new Not applicable
contracts engaging consultants entered into during

the period; the total actual expenditure on all new

consultancy contracts entered into during the period

(inclusive of GST); the number of ongoing consultancy

contracts that were entered into during a previous

reporting period; and the total actual expenditure in the

reporting year on the ongoing consultancy contracts

(inclusive of GST).

A statement that “During [reporting period], [specified 45
number] new consultancy contracts were entered into

involving total actual expenditure of $[specified million].

In addition, [specified number] ongoing consultancy

contracts were active during the period, involving total

actual expenditure of $[specified million]”.

A summary of the policies and procedures for selecting 45
and engaging consultants and the main categories

of purposes for which consultants were selected and

engaged.

A statement that “Annual reports contain information 45
about actual expenditure on contracts for consultancies.

Information on the value of contracts and consultancies

is available on the AusTender website.”
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Part of Description
Report

Page No.

Australian National Audit Office Access Clauses

If an entity entered into a contract with a value of more
than $100 000 (inclusive of GST) and the contract did
not provide the Auditor-General with access to the
contractor’s premises, the report must include the name
of the contractor, purpose and value of the contract,
and the reason why a clause allowing access was not
included in the contract.

Not applicable

Exempt Contracts

If an entity entered into a contract or there is a standing
offer with a value greater than $10 000 (inclusive of
GST) which has been exempt from being published in
AusTender because it would disclose exempt matters
under the FOI Act, the annual report must include a
statement that the contract or standing offer has been
exempted, and the value of the contract or standing
offer, to the extent that doing so does not disclose the
exempt matters.

Not applicable

Small Business

A statement that “[Name of entity] supports small
business participation in the Commonwealth
Government procurement market. Small and Medium
Enterprises (SME) and Small Enterprise participation
statistics are available on the Department of Finance’s
website.”

44

An outline of the ways in which the procurement
practices of the entity support small and medium
enterprises.

44

If the entity is considered by the Department
administered by the Finance Minister as material in
nature—a statement that “[Name of entity] recognises
the importance of ensuring that small businesses are
paid on time. The results of the Survey of Australian
Government Payments to Small Business are available
on the Treasury’s website.”

Not applicable

Financial Statements
Inclusion of the annual financial statements in 50-73
accordance with subsection 43(4) of the Act.

Executive Remuneration
Information about executive remuneration in accordance 36

with Subdivision C of Division 3A of Part 2-3 of the Rule.

84 ALRC Annual Report 2018-2019



Part of Description Page No.
Report

Other Mandatory Information

If the entity conducted advertising campaigns, a Not applicable
statement that “During [reporting period], [name of entity]

conducted the following advertising campaigns: [name of

advertising campaigns undertaken]. Further information

on those advertising campaigns is available at [address

of entity’s website] and in the reports on Australian

Government advertising prepared by the Department of

Finance. Those reports are available on the Department

of Finance’s website.”

If the entity did not conduct advertising campaigns, a 45
statement to that effect.

A statement that “Information on grants awarded to Not applicable
[name of entity] during [reporting period] is available at
[address of entity’s website].”

Outline of mechanisms of disability reporting, including 45
reference to website for further information.

Website reference to where the entity’s Information 45
Publication Scheme statement pursuant to Part Il of FOI
Act can be found.

Correction of material errors in previous annual report. Not applicable

Information required by other legislation. 45-47
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INDEX

A

Accountable Authority 34, 38
Accountable Authority Instructions 34, 36
address and contact details ii

advertising and market research 45

air travel 47

ANAO see Australian National Audit Office

annual performance statement
see performance statement

articles
see presentations, articles and speaking
engagements (by ALRC staff)

Attorney-General 2, 4, 6, 9-10, 14-19, 23,
25, 32, 34, 39

Attorney-General’s Department 23
Audit Committee 37, 40

Auditor-General
see Australian National Audit Office

Auditor’s Report 50-51

audits
financial management 37

Australian Law Reform Commission Act
1996 4, 34

Australian National Audit Office 37

Australian Public Service Values and Code
of Conduct 39

B

Bickerdike, Dr Andrew 2, 35

bonuses 36, 42
Bromwich, the Hon Justice Robert 2, 35

C

Clark, Jennifer 37

Class Action Proceedings and Third-party
Litigation Funders Inquiry 2, 5, 9, 24-25,
27-28

citations of ALRC reports 23-26

code of conduct 39

Commissioners 2, 35, 39-41

conference attendance 43

Conflict of Interest Policy 39

consultancies 45
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consultations 23-24, 28

Class Action Proceedings and Third
Party Litigation Funders Inquiry 6-7

Corporate Criminal Responsibility Inquiry
14-15

Family Law System Review 10-11

Framework of Religious Exemptions in
Anti-Discrimination Legislation 16-17

Where next for Law Reform? 18-19

contracts see procurement

Corporate Criminal Responsibility Inquiry 2,
5, 14-15, 24, 27-29, 35

corporate governance 34-40

corporate plan 23, 25, 36

court and tribunal decisions
citations of ALRC reports 23-24, 26

D

Derrington, the Hon Justice S Ciii, 28,
34-36
disability strategy 45
Discussion Paper
Class Action Proceedings and Third
Party Litigation Funders Inquiry 7, 24,
27
Corporate Criminal Responsibility
Inquiry 15
Family Law System Review 5, 11, 24-27
Framework of Religious Exemptions in
Anti-Discrimination Legislation 17

E

Edwardes, the Hon Cheryl 2, 35
employment conditions 41 see also staff

enabling legislation see Australian Law
Reform Commission Act 1996
Enders, Cherie 37

energy efficiency 46

E-news subscribers 23-24, 29

enterprise agreement 41-42, 46

Enterprise Risk Management Plan 38
see also risk management

entity resource statement and expenses for
outcomes 74-75

Environment Protection and Biodiversity
Conservation Act 1999 46



environmental performance 46-47
ethics 39
external scrutiny 40

F

Family Law System Review 2, 5, 10-13,
24-30, 35

Faulks, the Hon John 2, 35

financial management 37

financial performance
entity resource statement and expenses
for outcomes 74-75
financial statements 50-73
summary and analysis 32

fraud control 38
freedom of information 45
functions of ALRC 4

H

Health and Safety Management
Arrangements 46

health and well-being allowance 42, 46
human resources see staff
Hunter, Kathryn 37

implementation of proposed reforms 31
indemnity 40

Indigenous employment 41

Indigenous procurement 45

individual flexibility arrangements 41
influenza vaccinations 46

Information Publication Scheme 45
inquiries 2, 4-17

Internet home page ii

internships 43

Issues Paper
Family Law System Review 11

K

key performance indicators 23-25,
see also performance statement

L

law student engagement 43
legal services expenditure 45
liability insurance 40

M

market research 45

May, the Hon Michelle 2, 35
Middleton, the Hon Justice John 2, 35
Minister responsible 4, 34

N

non-salary benefits 41

o)

occupational health and safety
see work health and safety

O’Loughlin, Helen 37
organisational structure 4
outcome statement 22

P

paper usage 47

Parliamentary committees
mentions of ALRC reports in debates
and Committee reports 23-24, 26
scrutiny of ALRC 40

performance indicators
see key performance indicators

performance statement 22-30
analysis of performance 25-30
see also environmental performance;
financial performance

policies 36

presentations, articles and speaking
engagements (by ALRC staff) 23-24, 28

President, ALRC iii, 2, 4, 28, 34-39
President’s foreword 2
printing 47
Priorities for law reform project

see Where Next for Law Reform?
private interests declarations 39
procurement 44-45

Public Governance, Performance and
Accountability Act 2013 4, 22, 34, 37,
39, 44

Public Interest Disclosure Policy 39
Public Service Act 1999 4, 34, 39
publications 5 also see reports
purchasing 44
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R

recycling 46

related party disclosures 40

Religious Exemptions in Anti-Discrimination
Legislation, Review of Framework of 2, 5,
16-17, 24-25, 27-29

remuneration 35-36, 42

reports 25
citations of ALRC reports 23-26
implementation of ALRC reports 31
top three reports accessed 30

Rhoades, Professor Helen 2, 35-36

risk management
Audit Committee role 37
enterprise risk management 38
fraud control and risk management 38
in procurement 44

role and functions of ALRC 2, 4
S

salaries see remuneration
Senate Estimates Committee Hearings 40
Sinclair, Geoffrey 2, 35

small business participation in procurement
44

staff
development and training 43
employment conditions 41
statistics 41

study leave 43

submissions 23-24, 26-27

Class Action Proceedings and Third
Party Litigation Funders Inquiry 6-7

Corporate Criminal Responsibility Inquiry
15

Family Law System Review 10-11

Framework of Religious Exemptions in
Anti-Discrimination Legislation 17

T

transmittal letter iii
travel 47
Twitter ii, 23-24, 30

\'}

values 39
vehicles 47

w

waste and recycling 46

ALRC Annual Report 2018-2019

water consumption 47
website, ALRC ii, 23-25, 29-30, 36, 39, 45
Where Next for Law Reform? — Priorities for
law reform project 2, 18-19
work health and safety 38, 46
health and well-being allowance 41, 46

Y
Yesberg, Darrell 37









